PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL Thesis/Dissertation Acceptance

This is to certify that the thesis/dissertation prepared

 $_{Bv}\,$ Megan Redhead

Entitled THE ROLE OF APPEARANCE IN SELECTION FOR SEX-TYPED JOBS

For the degree of _____

Is approved by the final examining committee:

Margaret Stockdale

Jane Williams

Elizabeth Boyd

To the best of my knowledge and as understood by the student in the *Thesis/Dissertation Agreement*. Publication Delay, and Certification/Disclaimer (Graduate School Form 32), this thesis/dissertation adheres to the provisions of Purdue University's "Policy on Integrity in Research" and the use of copyrighted material.

Margaret Stockdale	
Approved by Major Professor(s):	
Approved by: Nicholas Grahame	06/24/2014
Head of the Department Graduate Program	Date

Head of the Department Graduate Program



THE ROLE OF APPEARANCE IN SELECTION FOR SEX-TYPED JOBS

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty

of

Purdue University

by

Megan E. Redhead

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree

of

Master of Science

August 2014

Purdue University

Indianapolis, Indiana



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	V
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background and Rationale	1
1.2. Previous Theory and Research	4
1.2.1. Sex Stereotypes	4
1.2.2. Occupational Sex Stereotypes	6
1.2.3. Occupational Sex Biases	8
1.2.4. Occupational Sex Biases and Selection	12
1.2.5. Assessment of the Applicant for Selection	14
1.2.6. Assessments for Sex-typed Jobs	16
1.2.7. The Role of Appearance within Selection	20
1.2.7.1. Attractiveness as a variable	23
1.2.7.2. Facial features as a variable	25
1.2.7.3. Sex-typed facial features as a variable	26
1.3. Present Study	28
CHAPTER 2. METHOD	31
2.1. Participants	31
2.2. Design	31
2.3. Measures and Materials	32
2.3.1. Job Descriptions and Resumes	32
2.3.2. Sex-typed Field	32
2.3.3. Sex-typed Faces	35
2.3.4. Demographic Items	35
2.3.5. Selection Decisions	36
2.3.6. Manipulation Checks	36
2.3.7. Reading Checks	36
2.4. Procedure	37
2.5. Statistical Analyses	
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS	39
3.1. Preliminary Analyses	39
3.1.1. Manipulation Checks	39
3.1.1.1. Masculinity-Femininity	39



	Page
3.1.1.2. Attractiveness	40
3.2. Hypotheses Tests	41
3.2.1. Hypothesis 1	41
3.2.2. Hypothesis 2	42
3.2.3. Hypothesis 3	42
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION	45
4.1. Contributions	45
4.2. Limitations and Future Research	50
4.3. Conclusion	54
LIST OF REFERENCES	55
TABLES	65
FIGURES	67
APPENDICES	
Appendix A	68
Appendix B	73
Appendix C	79



LIST OF TABLES

Table	age
Table 1 Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations among Sample Demographics	
and Key Variables	. 65
Table 2 Results of ANOVA	. 65
Table 3 Means and Standard Deviations for Selection Ratings: Target Sex by	
Field-type	. 66
Table 4 Means and Standard Deviations for Selection Ratings: Facial feature-type by	
Field-type	. 66
Table 5 Means and Standard Deviations for Selection Ratings: Target sex by Facial	
feature-type by Field-type	. 66



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure				Page	Э
Figure 1 S	election Ratings for M	Male Applicants: Fac	cial feature-type by Fie	eld-type 6'	7
Figure 2 S	election Ratings for I	Female Applicants: H	Facial feature-type by I	Field-type 6	7



ABSTRACT

Redhead, Megan E. M.S., Purdue University, August 2014. The Role of Appearance in Selection for Sex-typed Jobs. Major Professor: Margaret Stockdale.

Madeline Heilman's (1983) Lack of Fit Model, which postulates why discrimination occurs in the selection of sex-typed jobs, has been applied to the interaction of applicant attractiveness. Yet recent research suggests that other appearance variables, namely sex-typed facial features, may be associated with perceptions of fit. Building upon Heilman's 1983 model, the current study evaluated how sex-typed facial features relate to applicant selection for sex-typed fields. Undergraduate students were recruited for participation during the spring academic semester (n = 413) and data were analyzed using a 2x2x2 ANOVA. Results indicated that selection is significantly impacted by the three-way interaction of applicant sex, facial feature-type, and sex-type of the applying field. Further, masculine-featured females and feminine-featured males were significantly less favored for selection within the feminine sex-typed field. Implications of these findings and the differential evaluation of male and female applicants in a feminine field are discussed.



CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. <u>Background and Rationale</u>

According to Madeline Heilman's (1983) Lack of Fit Model, occupational sex biases emerge when the perceived attributes of an individual conflict with the perceived requirements of a job. The framework of this model has also been applied to the role of applicant appearance and selection to help explain how applicant sex and applicant appearance leads to selection biases. For women, appearance within selection processes may matter in ways that are different than for men. Specifically women, compared to men, are more likely to encounter stronger occupational sex biases due to their physical appearance (Johnson, Podratz, Dipboye, & Gibbons, 2010). Past research has also demonstrated that women are more likely to encounter appearance biases when the job in question is stereotypically masculine (Heilman & Stopeck, 1985). Now, with the growing popularity of screening social media sites such as Linkedin and Facebook, applicant appearance within selection may be more influential than ever. Due to such online sites, recruiters and hiring managers have access to photographs of applicants even before faceto-face meetings are scheduled. Therefore, the impact of occupational sex biases and applicant appearance is still an area of active research.



Before the impact of occupational sex biases and applicant appearance can be fully assessed, there are some issues within this research domain that need to be addressed. First, most of the research on applicant appearance operationalizes appearance as the degree to which an applicant is attractive. This may be problematic if attractiveness is not the only relevant facet of physical appearance. More specifically, current research suggests that past research on attractiveness may be confounded by the degree to which an face looks masculine or feminine, otherwise known as the degree to which an individual's facial features are sexually dimorphic or "sex-typed" (see Little, Benedict, & DeBruine, 2011). Research shows that masculine female faces are not perceived as attractive, but that masculine male faces, feminine male faces, and feminine female faces are (DeBruine, Jones, Smith, & Little, 2010). Accordingly, the relationship between sex-typed appearances and applicant attractiveness may deserve further investigation.

Second, research on applicant appearance does not always concern global measures of applicant attractiveness. Another body of literature has addressed facial appearance more discretely through its investigation of the constructs of "babyfacedness" and facial maturity (McArthur & Apatow, 1983-84). While these constructs have been predictive of relevant outcomes such as hiring recommendations (Zebrowitz, Tenenbaum, & Goldstein, 1991) and court rulings (Zebrowitz & McDonald, 1991), measures of babyfacedness and facial maturity often overlap with perceptions of facial masculinity and femininity. For example, babyfacedness is more often found in women and associated with warmth and submission (Zebrowitz et al., 1991). While research regarding attractiveness, babyfacedness, and facial maturity revolves around the constructs of sex-typed appearance, very little research has isolated the role of sex-typed



facial features. Even less research has investigated the relationship between sex-typed facial features and job-related outcomes. Thus, the role of sex-typed facial features may an important, yet under-examined aspect of applicant appearance and applicant selection.

Another concern within applicant appearance and selection biases pertains to the job or field in question. Research on such biases does not always implement sufficient control in the selection of sex-typed jobs. At times, masculine and feminine sex-typed jobs are confounded with managerial jobs and/or positions of leadership (e.g., Heilman & Okimoto, 2007). As such, jobs are not always controlled for levels of status and prestige. Other times, the jobs implemented are ambiguously selected which may weaken the validity of the research contributions. Through a more conscientious operationalization of applicant appearance and selection of sex-typed fields, this study will address some of the above mentioned concerns for research on occupational sex biases and applicant appearance.

The purpose of this study is to investigate the role of sex-typed appearance in selection for sex-typed fields. Specifically, this study seeks to answer the question: do sex-typed facial features influence selection decisions for sex-typed fields? Through a controlled investigation of sex-typed facial features within the selection context of sex-typed fields, this study ultimately seeks to better understand occupational sex biases and appearance biases. Next, we will review the literature which sparked our research question. The first portion of our review discusses stereotypes for sex and occupation, and how these stereotypes contribute to biases. The second portion of our review then discusses the literature on applicant selection as it pertains to applicant sex, field, and applicant appearance



1.2. Previous Theory and Research

1.2.1. Sex Stereotypes

Operationally, stereotypes are defined as "a socially shared set of beliefs about the traits that are characteristic of members of a social category" (Greenwald & Banaji, 1995, p. 14). The stereotypic attributes that characterize the group are believed to characterize all group members, simply because these individuals are part of the social category (see Heilman & Haynes, 2008). The number and types of social categories is virtually limitless (e.g. black athletes or stay-at-home moms), though sex and race are two of the more widely researched social categories (Greenwald & Banaji, 1995). A person's biological sex, as a categorical variable, is highly visible and often easily discernible (Snyder, 1981). The visible and discernible nature of one's biological sex makes sex a fundamental membership category, and thus the probability that sex stereotypes will form is likely (Gerber, 2009).

According to Deaux and Lewis (1983) sex role stereotypes consist of four interrelated components: traits, role behaviors, occupations, and physical appearance. Indeed, this study will investigate all four of these interrelated stereotype components, but will be most focused on the latter two components. Much of the research on occupational sex stereotypes can first be explained through the formation of sex-role stereotypes, which ascribe the standard and desired societal roles for both men and women (Spence & Buckner, 2000; White & White, 2006). A common way in which men and women are ascribed social roles is through their respective traits and temperaments



(White & White, 2006). Early personality theorists constructed two personality dimensions: instrumentality and expressiveness (Spence & Buckner, 2000). Instrumentality is manifested through a "cognitive focus on 'getting the job done," whereas expressiveness manifests through an "affective concern for the welfare of others" (Bem, 1974, p. 156). Men are generally associated with instrumental traits and behaviors, whereas women are generally associated with expressive traits and behaviors (Bem, 1974). More popular attribute terms within the IO/OB literature are agentic and communal, where agentic and communal respectively replace the terms instrumental and expressive (see Eagly, 1987). Agentic attributes include assertiveness, decisiveness, self-sufficiency, and being achievement oriented (see Heilman & Haynes, 2008). Communal attributes include compassion, sympathy, warmth, and being relationship-oriented.

Due to the continued association of males with agentic attributes, and females with communal attributes, agency has become stereotypically masculine and communality has become stereotypically feminine. Men are expected to exhibit agency and women are expected exhibit communality, because these are the stereotypic attributes of their sex (Rudman & Glick, 2001). In other words, sex-role stereotypes are ascribed to males and females, with the stereotypes embodying the traits and behaviors society would like for men and women to possess. In this way, sex stereotypes both describe and prescribe socially desired traits and behaviors for males and females (Rudman & Glick, 2001).

Additionally, stereotypes are both implicit and explicit in nature. For both implicit and explicit stereotypes, past and present experiences help construct the expected attributions for category-members. Implicit stereotypes are defined as a subset of



stereotypes wherein "the introspectively unidentified (or inaccurately identified) traces of past experiences... mediate attributions of qualities to members of a social category" (Greenwald & Banaji, 1995, p. 15). In simpler terms, an implicit stereotype exists without conscious awareness of its existence. For implicit stereotypes, we are unaware of the influence that past experiences have upon our cognition and perception (White & White, 2006). Alternatively, an explicit stereotype is a subset of stereotypes wherein there *is* a conscious and perhaps intentional awareness of the attributions held for members of a certain social category (Greenwald & Banaji, 1995). To capture and measure explicit stereotypes, direct questions and ratings are typically asked of individuals. Implicit stereotypes are measured indirectly however, typically through judgment latency measures or projective measures. In conclusion, sex stereotypes for men and women can be both implicit and explicit in form, and both prescriptive and descriptive in function.

1.2.2. Occupational Sex Stereotypes

Stereotypes do not only apply to people, but may also apply to occupations. An occupation can become "sex-typed," meaning that it is associated with the stereotypes of the male or female sex. There are two mechanisms through which an occupation becomes sex-typed: its (a) job requirements are aligned with stereotypic sex attributes, and (b) the job is statistically dominated by the presence of one sex (Davidson & Burke, 2000). Nursing, for example, is a commonly cited feminine-sex typed profession (e.g., White & White, 2006). Not only is the profession statistically dominated by females, but it is also aligned with communal characteristics (e.g. care and warmth) which are stereotypically



feminine. Alternatively, a profession such as engineering is stereotypically masculine, both due to the statistical prevalence of males and the agentic characteristics aligned with the profession (e.g. self-sufficiency and confidence). Either through the alignment of job requirements with sex attributes or the statistical prevalence of one sex, the job is associated with the sex and therefore "sex-typed". Often, sex-typed jobs are formed according to the existence of both mechanisms (Davidson & Burke, 2000).

Masculine sex-typed jobs are unique from feminine sex-typed jobs in that masculine attributes characterize jobs that are high in status and prestige (Conway, Pizzamiglio, & Mount, 1996; see also Eagly, Wood, & Diekman, 2000). Thus, if a job is masculine sex-typed, it is likely also perceived as a more prestigious and higher status position than a feminine sex-typed job would be perceived. The association of masculine sex-typed jobs being high in status and prestige may stem from the prototype for leaders. Masculine attributions, such as competence and assertiveness, are often expected of individuals within managerial positions and positions of leadership (Schein 1973; Koenig, Eagly, Mitchell, & Ristikari, 2011). Even if all managerial positions do not denote prestige as do positions of leadership, hierarchically- and therefore objectivelymanagerial positions are positions of status. As such, male sex-typed jobs develop associations with masculinity in a manner distinct from how female sex-typed jobs develop associations with femininity: stereotypically masculine jobs are often linked with higher levels of status and prestige. Thus, the added caveat to masculine sex-typed jobs requires research on sex-typed jobs to control for the status and prestige of jobs.



1.2.3. Occupational Sex Biases

Stereotypes transition into biases when the stereotype-based expectations held for an individual's category membership negatively impact the individual in terms of judgments and evaluations (see Heilman & Haynes, 2008). In many instances, the stereotyped information is inaccurate and/or irrelevant to the evaluation of the individual (Davison & Burke, 2000). Thus, an individual may be disadvantaged due to information that is linked to their category membership, but which does not actually pertain to a particular individual. For occupational sex biases, an applicant does not "fit" the perceived role of the job due to conflicting sex stereotypes, and as a result suffers negative consequences (Heilman & Saruwatari, 1979). So while the applicant may be sufficiently qualified for a job in question, the sex-stereotypic expectations for the applicant challenge judgments and evaluations of the applicant's qualification. As such, an applicant may experience occupational sex biases- and more importantly, negative jobrelated outcomes of those biases- simply because of the associated stereotype of his or her sex.

Heilman and Saruwatari (1979) defined occupational sex biases as the "result of an incongruity between one's perceived skills and attributes, which are associated with gender, and the perceived nature of the job's requirements" (p. 203). Research has documented outcomes of occupational sex biases in the forms of poorer performance evaluations, lower rates of promotion, and decreased perceptions of hirability (Davidson & Burke, 2000; Eagly & Karau, 2002; Gerdes & Kelman, 1981). Occupational sex biases, partly because they can function implicitly, are not always immediately apparent.



8

Lyness and Heilman (2006) attest to the latent nature of these biases when they examined archival data of performance evaluations from 448 upper-level managers, and the relationship of these evaluations with rates of promotion. Their study was unique in that they investigated the hierarchy of managerial jobs, distinguishing between line and staff managers, and performance ratings and promotions across gender. The functions of line managers involved business management, operations management, and sales, while the functions of staff managers involved human resources, administration, and external affairs. Due to the job responsibilities of line managers, the job of line managers was considered more stereotypically masculine than was the job of staff managers.

Lyness and Heilman (2006) found a few indications of occupational sex bias. First, female managers in line jobs were rated significantly lower during their performance evaluations than were females in staff positions or males in either line or staff positions. The lower ratings of women in *line* jobs, even compared to women in staff jobs, suggests that these ratings were partially attributed to women's lack of fit with the more masculine managerial position of line managers. Second, promoted women overall received higher performance ratings than did promoted men overall, indicating that women may need to out-perform men to receive the same outcome. Here, gender explained 6% of the variance in performance ratings, indicating that gender alone accounted for 6% of the total scores. Finally, in terms of promotion for both managerial positions, women were more likely than men to receive promotions on the basis of their performance evaluations- holding the variables of age, organizational tenure, education, and senior management level constant. Performance was more strongly related to promotion for women (b = .43), than was performance for men, (b = .12). Thus, women



in managerial line jobs not only received lower performance ratings than did men, but for women, performance ratings were more strongly related to promotions than the ratings were for men. The interactions reported by Lyness and Heilman (2006) reinforce the phenomenon of the glass ceiling, wherein women, on the basis of their sex and the ascribed stereotypes, struggle more than men to advance up the corporate ladder.

For women, success in career-related domains may function differently than it does for men due to prescribed sex stereotypes. Fiske, Cuddy, Glick, and Xu's (2002) stereotype content model proposes that occupational sex biases against women emerge as a function of perceived dimensions for warmth and competence. According to the stereotype content model, career women are disliked because their stereotype is founded upon perceptions of low warmth and high competence; it is the unique combination of these two dimensions that produces negative evaluations for out-group members (Fiske et al., 2002). Other research has supported the notion that successful career outcomes are achieved differently for men and women. Rudman and Glick (2001) coined the term "agentic backlash," whereby women exhibiting agentic attributes (instead of the stereotypically feminine, communal attributes) have less favorable outcomes within a selection context. Rudman and Glick (2001) also found that men who exhibit agency, even for a feminine sex-typed job, were considered more hirable than were agentic females, t(171) = 2.54, p < .05. Thus, for women to avoid occupational sex biases and experience favorable career outcomes, they must balance agency with communality (Rudman & Glick, 2001; Heilman & Okimoto, 2007). This balancing act seems particularly important for women when the job is masculine sex-typed (Heilman, Wallen, Fuchs, and Tamkins, 2004).



Occupational sex biases have been found to also negatively impact job-related outcomes for men. Butler and Skattebo (2004) investigated the effects of work-family conflict on performance appraisals by experimentally manipulating the reason fictitious employees did not complete their work. In one condition, employees left work to care for their sick child, and in the other condition employees did not complete their work due to on-the-job complications. Men experienced different consequences for leaving work to care for their child, in the form of lower salary recommendations, whereas women making the same choice did not. A significant main effect of work-family conflict was found for men, such that those who experienced work-family conflict also received lower salary recommendations than those who had low work-family conflict. For women, however, there were no significant differences on their salary recommendations, regardless of whether or not they experienced WFC. As demonstrated in Butler and Skattebo (2004), women's performance appraisals were not jeopardized when they left work to care for their child, but men's appraisals were. These results suggest that the different expectations held for men and women outside of work (i.e., child-rearing) can carry over to our expectations for men and women inside of work, through career-related judgments (i.e., salary recommendations). Since sex of the employee was the only other variable in the judgment scenario, this study supports the presence of occupational sex bias against men. While occupational sex biases can occur through inconspicuous and unintended manners, the effects of these biases on work-related outcomes are indeed realized and supported within IO/OB research.



1.2.4. Occupational Sex Biases and Selection

Research has further demonstrated the presence of occupational sex biases during the selection processes of sex-typed jobs (Davidson & Burke, 2000; Graves & Powell, 1988; Gerdes & Kelman, 1981). In more recent research, the strength of occupational sex biases within the context of selection has diminished. The lowered salience of this effect may be due to a few variables, such as the impact of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the increased awareness of biases within selection decisions (Bagenstos, 2007). Despite organizations' heightened sensitivity towards sex biases in selection, there is still a marked risk for occupational sex biases within the selection decisions for sex-typed jobs. For sex-typed jobs especially, the odds for stereotype activation are high because sex is a salient variable associated with the job (e.g., Davidson & Burke, 2000). Thus, applicants whose sex is incongruent with the sex of the job are likely to experience occupational sex biases during the selection process. Jobs where the perceived role and applicant in question do not match will henceforth be referred to as "incongruent sextyped jobs". Likewise, if the perceived role of the job matches applicant sex, the phrase "congruent sex-typed jobs" will be applied.

Occupational sex biases which emerge due to incongruence between the applicant and the job are explained by both Madeline Heilman's (1983) Lack of Fit Model and Eagly and Karau's (2002) theory of role congruity. Madeline Heilman's (1983) Lack of Fit model explains how occupational sex biases emerge, with role congruity encompassed in the explanation of the phenomenon. According to the Lack of Fit Model, occupational sex biases occur when applicants, on the basis of their sex, do not "fit" with the sex



attributes of the job and are therefore perceived as less suitable candidates. Thus, if there is a perceived lack of fit, it happens because the applicant and the role (of the job) are considered an incongruent pair. For example, a male nurse is a commonly cited incongruent pairing (Guy & Newman, 2004). As mentioned above, nursing is a feminine sex-typed job, due to the statistical prevalence of females and to the stereotypically feminine attributes within the job, which may be considered job requirements (i.e., a nurturing disposition and good listening skills). An occupational sex bias arises when a male nurse applicant (expected to be stereotypically agentic) is perceived as less appropriate for the position because of his sex; perceptions of the applicant and the role of the job are incongruent. This is particularly problematic because the stereotyped information may overshadow the individuating characteristics of the applicant and decrease the applicant's odds of selection. This male nurse applicant may indeed be sufficiently communal for the role of the job, yet due to the stereotype of his sex, he is not accurately perceived as such.

Eagly and Karau's (2002) theory of role congruity builds upon Heilman's lack of fit premise, but directly applies to biases against women in leadership roles. Role congruity states that biases in the form of likability and behavioral evaluations occur against women due to a perceived incongruity between women's gender role and leadership roles (Eagly & Karau, 2002). Like Heilman's Lack of Fit Model (1983), role congruity theory postulates that biases result from perceptions of poor fit. Additionally, role congruity theory operates under the premises that leadership roles are stereotypically masculine. As such, women experience occupational sex biases in leadership roles because the role of their sex is perceived as incongruent with the perceived roles of



leadership. For the purposes of this study, however, Heilman's (1983) Lack of Fit model better serves to explain occupational sex biases because it considers potential biases against both sexes.

Eagly and Karau's (2002) role congruity theory emphasizes the importance of controlling for leadership roles when assessing occupational sex biases for applicants of sex-typed jobs. As mentioned prior, the status and prestige inherent in leadership roles confounds assessments of sex-typed jobs. Therefore, this study seeks to evaluate occupational sex biases in a more comprehensive manner: for both sexes and for both masculine and feminine sex-typed jobs. Next, the ways in which applicants are assessed during selection processes and the variables that impact assessments of applicants are discussed. Prior research illustrates how the selection practices, the sex-type of the job, and the role of appearance are relevant in the assessment of applicants.

1.2.5. Assessment of the Applicant for Selection

Appearance may be particularly relevant to selection decisions due to the use of the interview. Other selection practices, such as screening applicants through popular social media sites like Linkedin and Facebook, suggest that assessments of applicant appearance may begin prior to the selection interview. Yet a robust body of research currently supports the importance of applicant appearance at the stage of the interview. The employment interview, along with the application form, is the most frequently used selection device across all selection methods (Doughtery, Turban, & Callender, 1994; Huffcut & Culbertson, 2011). Interestingly, the interview is also one of the selection



methods most prone to error (Cesare, 1996). Much of the error within the interview stems from its lack of structure, and unstructured interviews dominate selection batteries. Despite many human resource professionals knowing that unstructured interviews are prone to error, they are favored over structured interviews within selection practices (Highhouse, 2008). The popularity of unstructured interviews suggests that applicants may frequently be subjected to biased judgments and evaluations during the selection process. It is therefore likely that popular organizational selection practices, such as unstructured interviews, unintentionally permit appearance biases to prevail within selection decisions.

The interview captures both job-relevant constructs, such as experience, training, and interests, as well as job-irrelevant constructs, such as physical appearance (Huffcutt, 2011). The role of appearance typically becomes part of assessing the applicant during the interview stage, because it is at this stage the applicant is first seen (Doughtery et al., 1994). As mentioned above, stereotypes linked to highly visible category memberships, such as race and sex, can be easily activated (Gerber, 2009). Simply seeing a candidate may therefore evoke the implicit and/or explicit stereotypes associated with the applicant's category membership (see Rule and Ambady, 2010). Even though appearance is not a job-relevant construct, it is part of applicant assessment, and more importantly affects job-related outcomes (Hosoda et al., 2003).

Without structure implemented in the types of questions asked and in the rating scales for applicant responses, the interviewer is more likely to appraise the candidate based on subjective criteria and overall impressions (Huffcut, Conway, Roth, & Stone, 2001). This can be problematic when the interviewer's assessments are founded upon his



or her own perceptions of the candidate, and these perceptions include biases (Huffcut & Culbertson, 2011). Furthermore, research indicates that ambiguous evaluative criteria (i.e., unstructured interviews) prompts subjectivity, and ultimately invites bias (see Heilman & Haynes, 2008). Thus, if the interviewer has stereotypic beliefs (either implicit or explicit) activated within the interview process, biased perceptions may ultimately be guiding the decision-making process (Avery & Campion, 1982; Davidson & Burke, 2000; McShane, 1993). While structured interviews do not completely resolve selection biases, they do help decrease that likelihood that biases will adversely impact applicants. It may be more important to reduce biases within specific selection contexts, such as those for sex-typed jobs. Next, the selection context for sex-typed jobs is discussed.

1.2.6. Assessments for Sex-typed Jobs

As mentioned prior, occupational sex biases emerge from a perceived lack of fit between the applicant and the job's sex-based stereotypes (Heilman, 1979). Consequently, an applicant's sex may cause the applicant to be perceived as an incongruent fit for selection (Cable & Judge, 1997). In terms of selection, there is a greater body of research demonstrating how females are subject to occupational sex biases within selection. While there are some studies which explicitly address male applicants of incongruent sex-typed jobs (O'Lynn, 2004; Young & James, 2001), there seems to be a larger concern for female applicants of incongruent sex-typed jobs.

This larger concern for female applicants and incongruent sex-typed jobs particularly revolves around the status and prestige of the job. More specifically,



managerial jobs and general positions of leadership are aligned with stereotypically masculine traits (Eagly & Karau, 2002). For women, the male stereotypes associated with positions of leadership may hinder their progression into these jobs of higher status and prestige, despite their qualifications (i.e., the glass ceiling effect). Koenig et al (2011) conducted a meta-analysis to examine the extent to which stereotypes of leaders are culturally masculine within American society. While the alignment of leadership stereotypes and masculine stereotypes is less salient today, the preferential bias towards male leaders persists and is stronger within occupations dominated by men. The implication from leadership stereotypes is that women will experience occupational sex bias should they apply for a job where men dominate the field. Beyond high status and stereotypically masculine positions (e.g., manager, surgeon, lawyer), this bias could extend to other male dominated professions, such as computer programmer, building contractor, and comedian (Solis & Hall, 2011).

At times, selection biases for women function in discrete manners. Sharp and Post (1980) found that a sample of personal administrators were equally willing to hire males and females for incongruent sex-typed jobs. However, biases surfaced in that only male applicants were predicted to succeed regardless of the position's sex-type, F(1, 40) = 4.98, p < .05. As such, occupational sex biases found at the stage of selection may relate to biases women later encounter due to the incongruence of their sex and their position. For example, Heilman et al. (2004) demonstrated in a series of studies that women are rated as less likable when they perform successfully at male sex-typed tasks, compared to equally performing men. Further, likability was found to impact individual outcomes such as recommendations for special career opportunities and for salary (Heilman et al.,



2004). While investigating the selection criteria for American law firms in the mid-1990's, Gorman (2005) found that women were less likely to be hired into law firms when the selection criteria listed stereotypically masculine attributes, such as ambition, assertiveness, and quantitative orientation. On the other hand, when the selection criteria listed more stereotypically feminine attributes, such as cooperative, friendly, and verbally oriented, females were more likely to be selected (Gorman, 2005). Such findings demonstrate how the salience of a job's sex-type may impact adversely impact selection. Further, these findings underscore the real-world implications that judgments and evaluations carry for women when their sex is incongruent with the sex-type of the job.

Male applicants of incongruent sex-typed jobs also experience sex discrimination during selection (Davison & Burke, 2000). Atwater and Van Fleet (1997) for example found that raters preferred a less qualified female for a feminine sex-type job over a more qualified male. Hence, applicant sex was weighed more heavily than were applicant qualifications. Yet, documented instances of selection biases against men are less frequent within literature concerning sex-typed jobs. For male applicants and assessments of fit, recruitment and retention appear to be of greater issue than is selection. O'Lynn (2004) investigated the barriers male nurses encounter and found that nursing programs are accepting of male applicants. However the field is so feminized that the *males* (not those evaluating and selecting) struggle with a sense of belonging. Young and James (2004) found a similar lack of fit from the applicant's perspective when they studied male flight attendants. Regardless, when males apply to female sex-typed professions- such as dental hygienist, librarian, and event planner (Solis & Hall, 2011) - they too may be subjected to occupational sex biases.



In 2009, Desrumaux, De Bosscher, and Leoni explored sex-typed jobs and how the sex-type of the job interacts with attractiveness, levels of competence, and applicant sex within the context of selection. In terms of competency, applicants of incongruent sex-typed jobs experienced different selection ratings, depending on the sex-type of the job. For the male sex-typed job, high versus moderate levels of competence did not impact favorability ratings if the applicant was male: both highly and moderately competent males were favored. Essentially, the male applicants benefited from perceptions of fit. For females in the male sex-typed job, competency did matter. Highly competent females were favored *above* all males when they were applying for the male sex-type jobs. However, moderately competent females applying for the incongruent sextyped job were greatly disadvantaged- unlike their male counterparts. Thus, females did not experience the same advantage of sex-to-job fit as did the males when the role of their sex was congruent with the job. In the female sex-typed job, regardless of applicant sex, only highly competent individuals received favorable ratings. The interactions found in Desrumaux et al. (2009) suggest that male and female sex-typed jobs may carry different expectations. As a result of these different expectations, the selection processes for sextyped jobs are not uniform across applicant sex.

The findings of Desrumaux et al. (2009) also suggest that there is nevertheless a willingness to hire qualified applicants for incongruent sex-typed jobs. More precisely, the study implicates that females applying for male sex-typed jobs may be preferred as long as they are well-qualified. Indeed, other research also affirms that occupational sex biases can be decreased when candidates are qualified for the job (Davison & Burke, 2000; Glick, Zion, & Nelson, 1988). Yet if females of incongruent sex-typed jobs are not



highly qualified, unlike their male counterparts, they will likely be excluded from selection. Clearly, more research on applicants of incongruent sex-typed jobs is needed to understand how applicants will be appraised across various sex-typed jobs and fields.

Finally, a smaller body of research has examined perceptions of fit at the organization level. Instead of investigating perceptions of fit between the individual and the job, Cable and Judge (1997) investigated person-organization fit (P-O fit) and organizational selection decisions. In their study, applicant sex was significantly related to interviewer recommendation to hire (r = -.29) and to organizations' decision to hire (r = -.26), with males less likely to be recommended for hire. Sex was found to influence perceptions of P-O fit, and perceptions of P-O fit were found to influence organizations' decision to hire applicants (Cable & Judge, 1997). Thus, the relationship between applicant's sex and P-O fit suggests that sex stereotypes may decrease a candidate's likelihood of hire in ways beyond the sex-type of the job. Future research on sex-typed jobs and fields are assessed. This study will contribute to a greater understanding of sex-stereotypic expectations within applicant selection by controlling for the implemented sex-typed fields.

1.2.7. The Role of Appearance within Selection

Research indicates that appearance is a component of the subjective evaluations of applicants, and of perceptions of fit during the interview stage (Bretz, Rynes, & Gerhart, 1993; Rynes & Gerhart, 1990). This is particularly important considering



subjective evaluations and perceptions of fit influence interview outcomes, such as recommendation for hire and decision to hire (Barrick, Shaffer, & Degrassi, 2009; Barrick, Swider, & Stewart, 2010; Cable & Judge, 1997). Even in structured interviews, wherein the impact of subjective judgments are reduced, favorable overall initial impressions of an applicant have been found to strongly relate to higher interview ratings of the applicant (r = .42) and to moderately relate to job offers (r = .22) (Barrick, Swider, & Stewart, 2010). Applicant appearance is a crucial part of the initial impressions formed, and may actually contribute to the lasting impressions of the applicant (see Rule & Ambady, 2010).

Several independent studies and meta-analyses have demonstrated the practical significance of applicant appearance on the interview process (Eagly, Ashmore, Makhijani, & Longo, 1991; Hosoda et al., 2003; Jawahar & Mattsson, 2005; Johnson et al., 2010; Lorenzo, Biensanz, & Hyman, 2010). In an extensive meta-analysis, Barrick, DeGrassi, and Shaffer (2009) found that appearance- more than other irrelevant (indirect job) information such as impression management, verbal behavior and nonverbal behavior- impacted selection decisions of the interview. Correcting for sample size, physical appearance had a strong relationship with interview ratings ($r_c = .53$). In a field study by Golberg and Cohen (2004) wherein college recruiters interviewed high school applicants, verbal and nonverbal skills predicted 16% of the variance for ratings of the applicants. Nonverbal skills especially, which were operationalized as attire and appearance, were a stronger predictor of interview ratings ($\beta = .49$,) than were verbal skills ($\beta = .09$). In another field study, Marlowe, Schneider, and Nelson (1996) found that even experienced managers were influenced by applicant appearance for both the



likelihood of hire and of promotion. Decisions of inexperienced managers were even more heavily impacted by applicant appearance than were decisions of experienced managers (Marlowe et al., 1996). In conclusion, both experimental and field studies demonstrate the significant and practical impact of applicant appearance when evaluating the applicant during selection.

It is also argued that the role of appearance within selection varies in importance depending on the job. For example, appearance may more strongly influence perceptions of applicant fit if the job requires a lot of social interaction and face-to-face time with consumers (e.g., sales) (Gilmore, Beehr, & Love, 1986; Johnson et al., 2010). Unfortunately, emphasizing the role of appearance within selection seems to place women at a disadvantage. In a recent study by Johnson et al. (2010), participants rated how relevant physical appearance was for various sex-typed jobs. Even for the jobs where appearance was predetermined to be unimportant, the same sample of participants rated attractive female applicants as less suitable for a masculine sex-typed job (M = .01, SD = .23) than unattractive female applicants (M = -.15, SD = .28). Thus, depending on the sex-type of the job, appearance may play a differential role for male and female applicants. If applicant appearance generates a differential impact on perceptions of applicant suitability and likelihood of hire due to the applicant's sex, an occupational sex bias for appearance is present.

Next, appearance variables and their relationship to applicant selection are discussed. First, the role of attractiveness within applicant selection is reviewed, followed by the role of applicant facial features as grouped by the constructs of babyfacedness, facial maturity, and masculinity and femininity. The term "sex-typed facial features" is



applied to those features which represent masculine and feminine faces. Ultimately, the argument is made that sex-typed facial features may play a central role within applicant appearance and selection, particularly when the job is also sex-typed.

1.2.7.1. Attractiveness as a variable

One of the most consistent findings from research regarding applicant appearance is that attractiveness yields advantages. Overall, both attractive men and women experience greater positive job-related outcomes, such as likelihood of hire and compensation levels, than do unattractive counterparts (Hosoda et al., 2003). The effect of physical attractiveness yielding an advantage for applicants within selection has been termed the "what is good is beautiful" bias (Dion, Berscheid, & Walster, 1972). Appearance, however, has not always produced a universal advantage for men and women. Rather, it may depend upon the job. Heilman and Saruwatri (1979) coined the phrase "beauty is beastly" to describe the disadvantages attractive women experience when applying for masculine sex-typed jobs. Though empirical support for the "beauty is beastly" effect has been challenged in recent years (Podratz & Dipboye, 2002), the literature still suggests that attractiveness functions uniquely for women within a selection context (e.g., Boor et al., 1983).

Unlike attractive male counterparts, attractiveness can be specifically disadvantageous within selection contexts for women. The differential role of appearance within selection is thought to stem from cultural beliefs about beauty and gender (Langlois et al., 2000). More specifically, beauty is a stereotypically feminine attribute,



and therefore beauty may be beneficial for females applying to feminine sex-typed jobs because there is a sufficient fit between the perceived role of the job and the applicant. If there is a positive relationship between perceived levels of attractiveness and femininity, there could hypothetically be a greater perceived fit for attractive women applying to feminine sex-typed jobs (Desrumaux et al., 2009; Heilman & Saruwatari, 1979). Conversely, attractive women may be perceived as too feminine to adequately fit the perceived role of a stereotypically masculine sex-typed job and experience selection biases as a result (Heilman & Stopeck, 1985). Such biases have not been documented for attractive males.

Overall, attractiveness may be relevant to selection for sex-typed jobs because attractiveness is thought to make one's sex more salient (e.g., Desrumaux et al, 2009). In other words, masculine males and feminine females are perceived as more attractive than feminine males and masculine females. Other research demonstrates that an attractive male can be either facially masculine and/or feminine, but that an attractive female can only be facially feminine (see Little et al., 2011). In this case, men can appear masculine or feminine and still benefit from the "what is good is beautiful" bias, but women must appear feminine to experience the advantages of being attractive. Therefore women are not only limited in the ways they are found attractive, but they are also limited in the contexts where attractiveness is advantageous. Underlying the role of attractiveness is the role of sex stereotypes and concepts of masculinity and femininity. The idea that attractiveness makes one's sex more salient further suggests that attractive men may elicit advantageous qualities of masculine sex stereotypes, while attractive women may elicit the limiting qualities of feminine sex stereotypes.



1.2.7.2. Facial features as a variable

While attractiveness is a prevailing appearance variable, research has focused on certain facial features as predictive of job-related outcomes. Regardless of the interactions with attractiveness, some research demonstrates the relevance of facial features in applicant selection. Zebrowitz et al. (1991) found that facial maturity (i.e., how mature one's facial features appeared) was related to hiring recommendations for applicants of sex-typed jobs. "Babyfaced" individuals (here, defined as large eyes, high eyebrows, large forehead, and a small chin) were more often recommended for feminine sex-typed jobs. Importantly, females were also considered more baby-faced while males were considered more mature-faced. As demonstrated by this study, perceptions of applicant appearance and fit may extend beyond measures of physical attractiveness and into applicant facial features.

Even though babyfacedness and facial maturity are established as polar ends of the same continuum, more recent literature has simply focused on the construct of facial maturity. Very few studies directly acknowledge how facial maturity relates to sex stereotypes (e.g. Friedman & Zebrowitz, 1992), yet research on facial maturity implicates that sex stereotypes and sex-typed facial features may be the greater constructs of interest. For example, Rule and Ambady (2008) found that when participants rated the faces of Fortune 1000 male CEOs according to a composite score of power, perceptions of power accurately predicted company profits such that CEOs determined as appearing more powerful experienced higher revenue for the fiscal year. This composite score for



power consisted of ratings for competence, dominance, and facial maturity- all of which hold stereotypically masculine associations. Thus, it is quite possible that measures of facial maturity may actually be capturing measures of facial *masculinity*. Isolating the construct of sex-typed facial features for both male and female faces could therefore reveal greater predictive validity than that of facial maturity alone.

1.2.7.3. <u>Sex-typed facial features as a variable</u>

Research has slowly approached the construct of sex-typed facial features as a pertinent appearance-variable for job-related outcomes. Before, measures of facial maturity, or measured as a control for measures of attractiveness. Prior research within the IO/OB field has indicated the importance of facial features: Zebrowitz et al. (1991) demonstrated relationships among facial maturity, applicant sex and hiring recommendations, and Friedman and Zebrowitz (1992) demonstrated relationships between facial maturity and sex stereotypes. However, both of these studies used sketched drawings as their facial stimuli. Perhaps the scarcity of research on sex-typed facial features and job-related outcomes can also be attributed to the available stimuli. Advanced stimuli of photographed, sex-typed faces have only recently become available, and such stimuli have been developed outside the IO/OB field.

Much of the research on facial perception and biological fitness uses computer technology to morph five key ratios within male and female faces (Penton-Voak et al., 2001). When manipulated, these faces are dichotomized as either facially masculine or



feminine; differences in facial features are then visibly notable. Masculine faces are identifiable through wider jaw-lines, a lower-set and more prominent brow ridge, and thinner lips (see Little et al., 2011). Feminine faces are identifiable through such features as smaller jaw-lines, a higher set brow-line, thinner checks, and fuller lips. It should be noted that the main difference between the constructs of babyfaceness/facial maturity and facial masculinity/femininity is that babyfaceness/facial maturity pertains to age-related perceptions and expectations (Zebrowitz, Olson, & Hoffman, 1993). Using the facial stimuli from the fields of facial perception and biological fitness may offer better measures for our construct of interest: sex-typed facial features. Additionally, these advanced stimuli will help to better determine relationships among facial features and other variables of interest.

Sczesny and Kuhnen (2004) and Sczensny, Spreeman, and Stahlberg (2006) most directly address the impact of sex-typed facial features upon job-relevant outcomes. In 2004, Sczensy and Kuhnen demonstrated the impact of sex-typed facial features upon perceptions of leadership competence and selection separately from the impact of target sex. Facial stimuli contained photographed faces pretested for degrees of masculinity and femininity. Individuals with a more masculine appearance were perceived as having more leadership ability compared to individuals with a more feminine appearance, F(1, 126) =17.78, p < .001. Further, participants indicated they felt more certain in their decision to employ masculine appearing individuals for a leadership position compared to feminine appearing individuals, F(1, 126) = 9.82, p < .01. Since masculine appearing individuals were more favored for a leadership position (which is also stereotypically masculine), the findings of Sczensy and Kuhnen (2004) support the impact of sex-typed facial features as



part of applicant fit perceptions. Sczensny, Spreeman, and Stahlberg (2006) found a similar pattern of results in two studies that measured faces and corresponding leadership attributions. The first study asked participants to rate their explicit attributions when shown four faces: a masculine-featured male and female and a feminine-featured male and female. Regardless of sex, masculine-featured faces were attributed with a higher degree of leadership competence than were feminine-featured faces, ($\eta^2 = .11$). Given recent research on sex-typed facial features and sex-typed jobs, perceptions of facial features may indeed be an influencing variable within applicant appraisal and selection.

1.3. The Present Study

The intent of this study is to investigate the role of appearance in selection for sex-typed fields. Specifically, this study seeks to answer the question: do sex-typed facial features influence selection decisions for applicants of sex-typed fields? Research on occupational sex biases indicates that applicants whose sex is congruent with the sex-type job experience better job-related outcomes. In line with Madeline Heilman's (1983) Lack of Fit Model, I predicted that sex of the applicant will influence perceptions of applicant fit in the form of selection decisions:

<u>Hypothesis 1</u>: Selection decisions will be more favorable for applicants whose sex is congruent with the sex-type of the field, compared to applicants whose sex is incongruent with the sex-type of the field.

As prior research further indicates that the perceptions of facial features may impact perception of applicant fit, I predicted that the sex-type of applicant facial features



will also influence perception of applicant fit. The influence of facial features upon perceptions of applicant fit will also be measured in the form of selection decisions:

<u>Hypothesis 2:</u> Selection decisions will be more favorable for applicants whose facial feature-type is congruent with the sex-type of the field, compared to applicants whose facial feature-type is incongruent with the sex-type of the field.

Building upon Hypothesis 2, I predicted that perceptions of applicant fit will not only be influenced by the two-way interaction between applicant facial feature-type and sex-type of the field, but also that selection decisions for this interaction will vary according to applicant sex:

<u>Hypothesis 3</u>: Selection decisions will be more favorable for applicants whose facial feature-type is congruent with the sex-type the field, but these selection decisions will also differ according to applicant sex.

Although recent research indicates that applicant facial features may predict perceptions of applicant fit, a greater body of research indicates these advantages vary according to applicant sex. As males often experience favorable selection outcomes (Phelan, Moss-Racusin, & Rudman, 2008), and may not experience biased outcomes due to appearance (e.g., Heilman & Stopeck, 1985) I hypothesized that facial feature-type will not adversely impact male applicants when their facial feature-type and field-type are incongruent. Conversely, as research indicates that appraisals of female applicants are more favorable when their facial feature-type is congruent with their field-type (e.g., Johnson et al. 2010), it was hypothesized that selection decision for females will be favorable only when their facial feature-type is congruent with their field-type.


<u>Hypothesis 3a</u>: Selection decisions for male applicants will be favorable when their facial feature-type is both congruent and incongruent with the sex-type of the field.

<u>Hypothesis 3b</u>: Selection decisions for female applicants will be favorable only when their facial feature-type is congruent with the sex-type of the field.



CHAPTER 2. METHOD

2.1. Participants

Initially, 438 participants were recruited from the student population of Indiana University – Purdue University Indianapolis during the academic spring semester. Participants were recruited through self-referral via SONA, a web-based coordination service used by the Department of Psychology at Indiana University – Purdue University. Participants were primarily recruited from the Introduction to Psychology course at Indiana University – Purdue University Indianapolis. Participation in this study was voluntary, and course credit was administered in exchange for study participation.

2.2. Design

This study used an experimental 2x2x2 between subjects design to investigate interactions among applicant sex, applicant facial-feature type, and sex-type of the field. Applicant sex, applicant facial feature-type, and field type were manipulated across survey versions, constituting a total of eight unique conditions.



2.3. <u>Measures and Materials</u>

2.3.1. Job Descriptions and Resumes

All surveys contained a brief job description for the role of a teaching assistant and an applicant resume. Information for the job descriptions was obtained from O*Net, and abridged for the purposes of this study. One job description was created for social work TA applicants and one job description was also created for computer science TA applicants. Although the preferred field knowledge differed between the fields, both TA job descriptions listed the same primary role and tasks for the position. Two resumes were also made: one for applicants of the social work TA condition, and one for applicants of the computer science condition. Thus, all social work TA applicants had the same resume, and all computer science TA applicants had the same resume. Information regarding applicant qualifications avoided alignment with sex stereotypes; rather, the purpose of providing applicant resumes was to more realistically simulate the selection process and demonstrate the applicants' aptitude and fit for the position. Resumes and job description can be found in Appendix A, which contains all the materials for this study.

2.3.2. Sex-typed Field

For this study, the job of teaching assistant (TA) was applied across conditions, with the TA field of study being sex-typed. Selection of the sex-typed fields was determined according to methods supported by prior research when determining selection of sex-typed jobs. As mentioned prior, jobs become sex-typed either through the



statistical dominance of one sex within the job and/or the trait dominance from one sex aligned with the job (Davidson & Burke, 2000). Thus, selection of the TA fields of study was determined according to statistical dominance and trait association (detailed below). Additionally, levels of status and prestige were controlled for in selecting the TA field of study.

Two pilot studies were first conducted to help determine the TA fields of study (Appendix B). Although the pilot tests initially determined sex-typed jobs, the information gained from the pilot studies translated into selection of sex-typed fields. The first two pilot studies contained job titles that were statistically dominated by a single sex. The jobs were selected from the 2011 US Census Statistics for Household Data (Solis & Hall, 2011). Jobs chosen to represent masculine sex-typed jobs were those statistically comprised of 70%, or more, by males. The same process was applied in the selection of feminine sex-typed jobs, whereby feminine sex-typed jobs were selected if they were statistically comprised of 70%, or more, by females. Neutral jobs, which were comprised of 45%-55% males, were also included. Both pilot studies contained the same final list of jobs, yet included different instructions. All participants for the pilot studies were recruited from an upper-level, undergraduate psychology course at Indiana University – Purdue University Indianapolis.

The first pilot test was intended to control for the confounding variable of prestige. This pilot test instructed participants to rate the jobs according to "*How prestigious do you believe the job to be*" on a 5 point Likert-type scale (1 = very low *prestige*; and 5 = very high prestige). The instructions also defined a prestigious job as one that "conveys both status and respect" to further clarify intent to raters. The second



pilot test more directly measured associations of masculinity and femininity pertaining to jobs. This pilot test instructed participants to rate the jobs according to "*How masculine or feminine you believe a job to be*" on a 5 point Likert-type scale (1 = very masculine; 3= neutral; 5 = very feminine). With statistical dominance controlled for in the selection of jobs for the pilot studies, participants' perceptions of sex-typed jobs could be based on their trait-attributions. The job title of social worker and computer science programmer surfaced as having comparable levels of status and prestige (social work: M = 2.67, SD =1.22; computer science programmer: M = 3.44, SD = .88). As desired, the levels of status and prestige for these two jobs were not significantly different, t(16) = 1.55, p = .142. Further, social worker was perceived as a stereotypically feminine role (M = 4.25, SD =.71) and computer science programmer was perceived as a stereotypically masculine role (M = 2.00, SD = .96). As desired, the levels of masculinity and femininity between these two jobs were statistically different, t(14) = -5.46, p < .01.

Information acquired from the pilot tests was then used to determine the TA fields of study. Isolating sex-typing to the field of study as opposed to the job helped control for perceived levels of status and prestige because the tasks and duties of TA remained uniform across conditions. To further ensure the field of study was statistically dominated by one sex, gender demographics for all fall 2013 declared, undergraduate majors were obtained through the Office of Information Management and Institutional Research at Indiana University – Purdue University Indianapolis. Ninety-one percent of declared social work majors were female, and 90% of declared computer science majors were male. Therefore, the statistical dominance of the fields of study further supported the



selection of social work as a stereotypically feminine field of study, and computer science as a stereotypically masculine field of study.

2.3.3. Sex-typed Faces

This study used photographs of male and female faces that were validated as either facially masculine or feminine in prior facial perception research studies (e.g., Buckingham et al., 2006; Welling, Singh, Puts, Jones, & Burriss, 2013). These studies utilized a computer program called Psychomorph, which altered faces to be 30% more masculine and/or 30% more feminine than their original degree. Therefore Pyschomorph allowed for a masculine and feminine version of the same female face, as well as a masculine and feminine version of the same male face. Four final faces were implemented as stimuli in this study: a masculine male face, a masculine female face, a feminine male face, and a feminine female face. All stimulus faces appeared to depict individuals in their early twenties, which is also consistent with the typical age of a teaching assistant. Last, both male and female faces depicted Caucasian individuals. The four faces used in this study can be found in Appendix A.

2.3.4. Demographic Items

Participants were asked to provide demographic information including: (1) age, (2) gender, (3) race, and (4) sexual orientation. Participants were also asked to indicate if they had prior experience in an undergraduate course accompanied with a teaching



assistant, and if they had prior experience reviewing resumes for selection. These items, along with all other measures for this study, can be found in Appendix C.

2.3.5. Selection Decisions

All participants made two selection decisions for a given applicant. The two selection decisions were "willingness to hire" and "projected success". For "willingness to hire," the statement "*I am willing to hire this candidate for the TA position*" was posited. For projected success, the statement "*I think this candidate will be successful in the TA position*" was posited. Both of these selection decisions were rated according to a 5-point Likert-type scale, (1 = *strongly disagree*; 5 = *strongly agree*).

2.3.6. Manipulation Checks

To affirm that participants perceived applicant faces as anticipated, two manipulation checks were instated. The first manipulation check asked participants to rate how masculine or feminine they perceived the applicant face to be. Ratings for perceived sex-typed faces were made according to a 7-point bipolar scale, (-3 = *very masculine*, 0 = ambiguous, 3 = very feminine). To also affirm that perceptions of facial feature-type were perceived distinctly from perceptions of attractiveness, participants were also asked to rate how attractive they perceived the applicant face to be. Attractiveness ratings were made according to a 7-point bipolar scale, (-3 = *very masculine*, 0 = neutral, 3 = very attractive).



2.3.7. Reading Checks

Throughout all survey versions, participants were asked multiple choice questions which required attention and regard of survey material. These questions served as reading checks, and were placed under the target applicants' job description, resume, and photograph. These questions were intended to verify that participants understood and acknowledged critical information about target applicants' qualifications and characteristics. The list of reading checks can be found in Appendix C. If participants answered these questions incorrectly, they were asked to review the presented materials before proceeding. Participant responses were omitted if participants did not correct their responses after the request to review incorrect answers.

2.4. Procedure

Participants were randomly assigned to one of eight total survey versions that varied according to applicant sex (male/female), facial feature-type (masculine/feminine), and field-type (masculine/feminine). All survey versions were administered online through SurveyMonkey. For each survey, participants were asked to read a job description and an applicant resume, and were then shown a photograph of the applicant. Upon reviewing this information, participants were then asked to make selection decisions for the given applicant. Participants also completed reading checks embedded throughout the survey, manipulation checks, and finally demographic items.



2.5. Statistical Analyses

This study used a 2x2x2 ANOVA to evaluate the significance of the two-way interaction between applicant sex and field-type, the two-way interaction between applicant facial feature-type and field-type, and the three-way interaction among applicant sex, applicant facial feature-type, and field-type. The three-way interaction was then explored further according to the two-way interaction for facial feature-type and field-type across applicant sex. Simple main effects for facial feature-type were also investigated according to applicant sex and field-type.



CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

3.1. Preliminary Analyses

The initial sample size for this study totaled 438 participants. After screening participant responses according to the reading checks embedded within the surveys, the sample size was slightly reduced (n = 413). Means, standard deviations, and correlations for sample demographics and key variables in the study are shown in Table 1. Although the majority of our sample (85.5%) did not have prior experience in reviewing resumes for selection, the majority of our sample (83.5%) did have prior classroom experience with a TA and thus were likely familiar with the role of teaching assistant.

3.1.1. Manipulation Checks

3.1.1.1. Masculinity-Femininity

Participants were asked to rate the degree to which a given face was sex-typed to ensure that the photographed faces were appropriately perceived as masculine and feminine. Ratings were made according to a 7-point bipolar scale, (-3 = very masculine, 0 = ambiguous, 3 = very feminine). Male faces overall were rated as strongly masculine (M= -1.54, SD = 1.25), and female faces overall were rated as feminine (M = 1.12, SD =



1.18). The masculinity-femininity ratings for male faces overall compared to female face overall were significantly different, t(408) = -22.14, p < .01. Masculine male faces were perceived as more masculine than were feminine male faces (M = -1.96, SD = 0.97; M = -1.08, SD = 1.36). Masculine male faces were rated as significantly more masculine than were feminine male faces, t(208) = -5.41, p < .01. Additionally, feminine female faces were perceived as more feminine than were masculine female faces (M = 1.60, SD = 0.87; M = 0.63, SD = 1.26). Feminine female faces were also rated as significantly more feminine than were masculine female faces, t(198) = -6.33, p < .01. These findings supported the integrity of our stimuli.

3.1.1.2. Attractiveness

Prior research has not always separated measures of sex-typed facial features from measures of attractiveness, particularly as it pertains to applicant selection (e.g., Desrumaux et al., 2009). To compare perceived levels of masculinity-femininity to perceived levels of attractiveness, attractiveness ratings were made according to a 7-point bipolar scale, (-3 = *very unattractive*, 0 = *neutral*, 3 = *very attractive*). Neither male faces neither overall nor female faces overall were rated as strongly attractive (M = .26, SD =1.30; M = .57, SD = 1.24). However, female faces overall were perceived as significantly more attractive than were male faces overall, t(409) = -2.51, p = .013. The significant difference between male and female faces overall can be attributed to ratings for female faces. Masculine female faces were rated as less attractive than feminine female faces (M= .21, SD = 1.25; M = .91, SD = 1.13). This difference was statistically significant, t(197)



= -4.18, p < .01. Conversely, masculine male faces were not rated as more attractive than were feminine male faces (M = .32, SD = 1.32; M = .19, SD = 1.27). Further, there was no significant difference between the attractiveness ratings for masculine male faces and feminine male faces, t(210) = .77, p = .445. As such, only feminine female faces were rated as significantly more attractive than the three remaining faces in this study. It is possible that the constructs of sex-typed facial features and attractiveness may have only been simultaneously captured for measures concerning feminine female faces.

3.2. Hypotheses Tests

Due to the high agreement between the two selection ratings (r = .87, p < .01), willingness to hire and projected success, these items were combined into a two-item scale called "selection ratings" ($\alpha = .93$). This selection scale became the dependent variable for our ANOVA. An ANOVA was conducted to investigate potential interactions of our hypotheses: applicant sex and field-type, facial feature-type and field type, and applicant sex, facial feature-type and field-type. The results of the ANOVA are summarized in Table 2.

3.2.1. Hypothesis 1

Hypothesis 1 predicted that selection would be more favorable for applicants whose sex was congruent with the sex-type of the applying field. Means and standard deviations for the selection ratings of applicant sex by field-type are shown in Table 3. A



significant interaction between applicant sex and field-type was not found, F(1, 405) = 0.00, p = .993. Therefore, Hypothesis 1, which stated that selection decisions would be more favorable when applicant sex and field-type were congruent, was not supported by our results.

3.2.2. Hypothesis 2

Hypothesis 2 predicted that selection would be more favorable for applicants whose facial feature-type was congruent with the sex-type of the applying field. Means and standard deviations for the selection ratings of applicant facial feature-type by fieldtype are shown in Table 4. A significant interaction between applicant facial feature-type and field-type was not found, F(1,405) = .04, p = .848. Thus, Hypothesis 2, which stated that selection decisions would be more favorable when applicant facial feature-type and field-type were congruent, was not supported by our results.

3.2.3. Hypothesis 3

Hypothesis 3 predicted that selection would be more favorable when applicant facial feature-type was congruent with the sex-type of the applying field, but that the selection decisions made according to this two-way interaction would also vary by applicant sex. It was hypothesized (3a) that selection decisions for male applicants will be favorable when their facial feature-type is both congruent and incongruent with the sextype of the field. However, for female applicants, it was hypothesized (3b) that selection



decisions for will be favorable only when their facial feature-type is congruent with the sex-type of the field. Means and standard deviations for the selection ratings of applicant sex by applicant facial feature-type by applying field-type are shown in Table 5. A significant three-way interaction for applicant sex by facial feature-type by field type was found, F(1,405) = 4.63, p = .032. Therefore, Hypothesis 3 was partially supported by our results in that applicant selection was impacted by our sex-typed variables.

Hypotheses 3a and 3b were explored by examining the three-way interaction among applicant sex, facial feature-type and field-type further. To evaluate Hypotheses 3a and 3b, the two-way interactions for facial feature-type and field-type were examined separately across applicant sex. Figure 1 illustrates the selection ratings for male applicants. The two-way interaction for facial feature-type and field-type for male applicants was not significant, F(1,208) = 2.74, p = .099, $p\eta^2 = .01$. There was, however, a simple main effect of facial feature-type for male applicants according to field-type. For male applicants, there was no simple main effect for facial feature-type in the masculine sex-typed field, F(1,102) = .09, p = .760, $_{p}\eta^{2} = 0.00$. Thus, facial feature-type did not impact selection ratings for male applicants in the masculine sex-typed field. There was, however, a simple main effect for male applicants' facial feature-type in the feminine sex-typed field, F(1,106) = 5.52, p = .021, $p\eta^2 = .05$. The non-significant, two-way interaction between facial feature-type and field-type for male applicants supports Hypothesis 3a. However, the finding that male applicants with a feminine face in a feminine sex-typed field were favored significantly less contradicts the hypothesized results. Since male applicants were not unanimously favored regardless of facial features and field, there is only partial support for Hypothesis 3a.



The two-way interaction for facial feature-type and field-type for female applicants was then explored. Selection ratings for female applicants are illustrated by Figure 2. The two-way interaction for female applicants' facial feature-type and field-type was not significant, F(1,197) = 1.93, p = .167, $_p\eta^2 = .01$. However, a simple main effect for female applicants' facial feature-type was found according to field-type. In the masculine sex-typed field, there was no simple main effect for female applicants' facial feature-type, F(1,98) = .45, p = .504, $_p\eta^2 = .005$. Therefore, facial features did not significantly impact selection ratings for female applicants in the masculine sex-typed field, F(1,99) = 6.174, p = .015, $_p\eta^2 = .06$. In the feminine sex-typed field, masculine-featured women were significantly less favored for selection. Therefore, Hypothesis 3b was partially supported because selection decisions for female applicants were significantly impacted when facial feature-type was incongruent with a feminine field-type.



CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

4.1. Contribution

This study aimed to determine if sex-typed facial features impacted the selection of applicants for sex-typed fields. Indeed the results of this study support the role of sextyped facial features as influential to selection. However, two hypothesized interactions were not supported by my results. Contrary to hypotheses, applicant sex and field-type (H1) and applicant facial feature-type and field-type (H2) did not significantly impact selection ratings for applicants. Applicant sex and field-type may not have generated differential selection ratings due to modern day's heightened sensitivity towards sex discrimination (Bagenstos, 2007). Facial feature-type to field-type alone was not significantly impactful, although results did indicate a significant two-way interaction for sex and facial feature-type, as well as simple main effects for facial feature-type according to levels of sex and field. Thus, the relationships between applicant sex to field-type and between facial feature-type to field-type may not be strong stimuli in terms of stereotype activation. Rather, it may be the interactions of applicant sex with facial features that activate stereotype-based expectations within sex-typed fields.

Perhaps the most interesting findings from this study pertain to the simple main effects found within the three-way interaction among applicant sex, facial feature-type, and field-type (H3). The patterns of results were unexpected in two ways. First,



differential impact according to applicant sex and facial feature-type was only observed in the feminine sex-typed field. These findings are in contrast with previous research that indicates interactions between applicant sex and facial feature-type may lead to appearance biases within masculine sex-typed fields (Heilman & Stopeck, 1985; Johnson et al., 2010). Second, both male and female applicants experienced decreased selection ratings due to their physical appearance. Such results were unexpected because appearance biases towards male applicants have been largely undocumented by previous research. Yet, the results of this study indicated that feminine-featured men and masculine-featured women were significantly less favored for selection (see Figures 1 and 2). Thus, for men in the feminine field, it was not their sex but their facial featuretype that generated adverse impact. For women in the feminine field, although their sex matched the applying field, the incongruence between their facial feature-type and the field generated adverse impact. Such findings therefore provide some support for Madeline Heilman's (1983) Lack of Fit Model for both sexes, at least in terms of selection for feminine sex-typed jobs and fields.

It is possible that appearance mattered only in the feminine sex-typed field due to stereotypes held for females and appearance. More specifically, beauty and the importance of physical appearance are considered stereotypically feminine attributes (Langlois et al., 2000). Therefore, the feminine sex-typed field may have activated the notion that appearance was relevant to selection because appearance is a stereotypically feminine concern. As such, feminine-featured women may have been perceived as a better fit for the feminine sex-typed field. Conversely, selection ratings were not significantly impacted by applicant appearance in the masculine sex-typed field, and



therefore appearance in the masculine field did not seem particularly relevant to selection. Rather, it is possible that for the masculine sex-typed field, the stereotypically masculine attribute of competence was activated as important to selection. Thus, as all applicants were equally qualified (i.e., all had the same resume), neither applicant sex nor facial feature-type adversely impacted applicants in the masculine field. Instead, all applicants in the masculine sex-typed field may have been appraised on the basis of their qualifications. The pattern of these results therefore suggests that selection criteria may vary according to the field-type and the sex-stereotypic expectations for the respective fields.

Building upon the importance of physical appearance within feminine sex-typed fields, it is possible that feminine-featured men and masculine-featured women were perceived as violating their respective gender norms. As such, both these subgroups were then less favored for selection within the feminine field. Though the literature is sparser for men compared to women, occupational sex biases have been documented for both sexes when they do not ascribe to the traditional sex stereotypes and thus violate norms. For women, the term "agentic backlash" is often used to describe occupational sex biases that women experience when they do not ascribe to the prescriptive stereotype for their sex (Rudman & Glick, 2001). Although there is no term to describe occupational biases against counterstereotypical men, such men have been characterized as "modest" or "wimpy and less respected" (Heilman & Wallen, 2010; see also Rudman & Phelan, 2008). In terms of selection, Phelan et al. (2008) examined applicants who exhibited either counterstereotypical or stereotypical traits of their sex. Both agentic female applicants and communal male applicants were rated as significantly less socially skilled



compared to stereotypical men and women. Unfortunately for agentic female applicants, selection criteria were more heavily based on their social skills than their level of competence. For hirablility, agentic females were less likely to be hired, but there were no significant gender differences for hirability of communal applicants (Phelan et al., 2008). While the biases against counterstereotypical women were more nuanced and perhaps more consequential, counterstereotypical men were also disadvantaged for selection. Thus, the counterstereotypical appearance of feminine-featured men and masculine-featured women in this study may have activated stereotypes associated with counterstereotypical men and ultimately impacted selection ratings for these two subgroups. Implications for future research are discussed in the following section.

Interestingly, masculine-featured males and feminine-featured females were uniformly favored for selection. Regardless of the applying field-type, the interaction of their sex and facial feature-type seemed to benefit these applicant subgroups. Such findings contradict previous research on feminine-featured women, but somewhat supports the literature on attractiveness and the glass escalator effect. The literature on attractiveness suggests that masculine-featured males and feminine-featured females are traditionally considered the most attractive subgroups (see Little et al., 2011). According to our manipulation check, feminine-featured females were the only subgroup rated as moderately attractive. For this study, perhaps the perceived level of attractiveness for the feminine-featured women led to their experienced selection advantages across field-type. Although the manipulation check did not support the masculine-featured male as attractive to raters, it is possible that attractiveness may have likewise presented this subgroup with a selection advantage. Yet it is also possible that the high levels of



perceived masculinity for this applicant subgroup heightened the salience of the applicant's sex, and the selection advantage for masculine-featured males was a function of the glass escalator effect. According to the glass escalator effect, token males do not experience occupational sex biases, but rather are more likely to experience advantages above and beyond their female colleagues (Williams, 1992). Therefore, the selection advantages for feminine-featured women may be a function of their attractiveness, whereas the selection advantages for masculine-featured men may be a function of their salient masculine appearance and the glass escalator effect.

In terms of practical implications, the results of this study suggest that applicants and hiring organizations can be more cautious of activating stereotype-based expectations within selection contexts. Unfortunately, it may be more difficult for applicants to proactively avoid stereotype activation than it may be for hiring professionals. A simple step, however, would be for applicants to mindfully screen accessible photographs of themselves and only share photographs that are pleasing (see Isaac, Lee, & Carnes, 2009). Hiring organizations can also follow selection practices that may help negate biases for appearance. For example, recruiters can exclude applicant photographs from their screening and selection processes. Also, organizations can minimize the probability of occupational sex biases by ensuring their selection criteria is job-relevant and aptly gender neutral. Organizations can also train hiring professionals on how to appraise applicants according to the specific job qualifications, and to avoid biases within selection contexts (see Isaac et al., 2009). Together, such initiatives from both applicants and hiring organizations may help decrease occupational sex biases and appearance biases within selection.



4.2. Limitations and Future Research

Perhaps the greatest limitation of this study is its generalizability. For this study, participants were asked to make selection ratings for teaching assistant applicants. Although the majority of our sample was familiar with role of TAs, the majority also lacked prior training and experience in making real-world selection decisions. Therefore, the ratings from our sample may not accurately reflect the selection decisions of actual hiring professionals. Second, selection decisions in actual field settings are made with more information than was offered by this study. Since applicants were represented through a paper person task, the judgments of our participants were confined by the limited information available. As such, our sample again may not accurately reflect the judgments of hiring professionals. The controlled nature of this study did, however, help affirm potential relationships between our selection variables of interest and selection ratings.

The practical importance of this study may also be limited. Although we found a significant three-way interaction among applicant sex, facial feature-type, and field type upon selection, the effect size for this interaction was rather small ($_p\eta^2 = .01$). As this was a controlled experiment, the effect size may be even smaller in field settings. Therefore, it is unknown how relevant facial feature-type would be to selection in field settings. This is not to say that facial features will not significantly impact odds of field selection, however. Applicant facial feature-type may simply be more relevant in other real-world contexts, such as applicant screening. Last, the small effect size may simply be a function



50

of this study's design, as opposed to the strength of applicant sex, facial feature-type and field-type interactions upon selection.

While the found effect size was rather small, so were the manipulations within this study. At times, small effect sizes from small experimental manipulations suggest that the investigated relationships may be rather substantial in real world contexts (Cortina & Landis, 2009). Thus, the small effect size found here should not discourage future researchers from further investigating the relationships within this study. The manipulations in this study were subtle in a few ways. Foremost, instead of sex-typed jobs, this study implemented two different sex-typed fields. The job descriptions for both positions list the same primary role and the same tasks, and therefore were rather synonymous. It is likely that selecting different sex-typed jobs that also list strongly sextyped tasks, such as construction worker and beautician, would function as a stronger experimental manipulation and ultimately yield a larger effect size. Additionally, the field of computer science, though rated as strongly masculine in the pilot study, may not have activated strong stereotypes for masculinity. As such, it is possible that the simple main effects for facial feature-type were not found within the masculine field because computer science is not a conventionally strong, masculine sex-typed field. A different masculine sex-typed field, such as firefighter or economist, may have generated differential selection ratings according to applicant sex and facial feature-type.

Another limitation of this study concerns the constructs of sex-typed facial features and attractiveness. As the pattern of our results and support from previous research both suggest, masculine-featured males and feminine-featured females may be perceived as the most attractive individuals, and likewise experience better job-related



outcomes. Though the manipulation check did not support masculine-featured males as attractive, the standard deviations for their attractiveness ratings were rather large; accordingly, attractiveness ratings for masculine-featured males did not confirm they are strongly perceived as unattractive. Additionally, the single stimulus for the masculine-featured male within this study may not represent for the average attractiveness of masculine-featured males in real-world. Hence, it is possible that the photograph for the masculine-featured male used in this study is less attractive than the average masculine-featured male. Future research could continue investigations of attractiveness and sextyped facial features across sex to understand how these variables interact. Expanding upon the premise of this study, interactions for attractiveness could be included alongside investigations of applicant sex, facial feature-type, and field-type interactions.

While this study appeared to sufficiently isolate the construct of sex-typed facial features, investigations of sex-typed facial features may never be fully isolated from the construct of attractiveness, at least for women. For men, they may be separate enough in the sense that attractiveness ratings for the male faces in this study did not significantly differ according to facial feature-type. Yet for women, feminine-featured women were rated as significantly more attractive than masculine-featured women. Additionally feminine-featured women were favored for selection across field-type. However in the feminine sex-typed field, facial feature-type impacted selection such that masculine-featured women. It is possible that the masculine-featured women were disadvantaged due to a) a perceived lack of fit between facial feature-type and field-type, b) a perceived lack of fit between desired levels of attractiveness and expectations for a feminine field-type, or c) a



combination of two. Future research could therefore examine levels of attractiveness within masculine-featured women as it relates to applicant fit and applicant appraisals. Perhaps more beneficial, future research efforts could also investigate how to reduce appearance biases for masculine-featured women.

A key finding from this study was the differential impact of facial feature-type according to applicant sex in the feminine sex-typed field. However, it is unknown how the limitations within this study may have contributed to this finding. For example, appearance may have only mattered in the feminine sex-typed field due to the selected fields. Appearance may also be relevant for applicants of masculine sex-typed fields, but the field of computer science may not have accurately represented the typical associations for masculine fields. Therefore future research can continue investigations of how physical appearance is important both within and across field-type. Additionally, in examining selection criteria for sex-typed fields, future research can include trait perceptions of applicants according to their sex, facial feature-type, and field-type. As suggested by the pattern of results in the feminine field, the counterstereotypical appearance of applicants may have caused raters to associate these applicants with counterstereotypical traits, and thereby rate them as less desirable candidates. Thus, examining trait associations according to applicant appearance in future studies could provide additional clarity to pattern of results found within this study.

Last, expanding this study to real-world samples or to real-world contexts is a desirable future direction. One option is to replicate this study with a sample of actual hiring professionals in sex-typed fields. The replication of this study with a more generalizable sample could better assess the impact of applicant facial features upon



selection. A second future direction is to conduct this study in the field. Although a field study would require partnership with a hiring organization, the selection rating items used here could easily be completed by hiring professionals. Separate ratings on applicants' facial feature-type could then be compared to hiring professionals' ratings, and ultimately to actual organizational decisions. Trait items for agentic and communal traits could also be measured to evaluate potential interactions among trait-type (stereotypical and counterstereotypical), applicant sex, facial feature-type and field-type. An exploration of this capacity is most involved, yet may best asses the practical importance of facial features to applicant selection across sex and field-type.

4.3. Conclusion

Appearance biases are often a function of implicit stereotypes: although we explicitly know that physical appearance should not be a relevant criterion, appearance nonetheless influences our judgments and evaluations of others. Even more unfortunate, appearance biases may lead to biased, job-related outcomes within selection contexts. Much of the research on occupational sex biases and appearance biases illustrates biases against women in masculine sex-typed fields. However, the findings of this study suggest that research within feminine fields deserves equal attention. There is also potential for future research to expand our understanding of how the stereotypes and expectations differ across sex-typed fields. As we continue to move towards an equal opportunity workforce, an increased awareness of appearance biases and selection biases is one of many important steps.



LIST OF REFERENCES



LIST OF REFERENCES

- Atwater, L. E., & Van Fleet, D. D. (1997). Another Ceiling? Can Males Compete for Traditionally Female Jobs?. *Journal of Management*, 23(5), 603-626.
- Arvey, R. D., & Campion, J. E. (1982). The employment interview: A summary and review of recent research. *Personnel Psychology*, 35(2), 281-322. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.1982.tb02197.x
- Bagentos, S.R. (2007). Implicit bias, "science," and antidiscrimination law. *Harvard Law* and Policy Review, 1, 477-494.
- Barrick, M. R., Shaffer, J. A., & DeGrassi, S. W. (2009). What you see may not be what you get: Relationships among self-presentation tactics and ratings of interview and job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(6), 1394-1411. doi:10.1037/a0016532
- Barrick, M. R., Swider, B. W., & Stewart, G. L. (2010). Initial evaluations in the interview: Relationships with subsequent interviewer evaluations and employment offers. *Journal Of Applied Psychology*, 95(6), 1163-1172. doi:10.1037/a0019918
- Beehr, T. A., & Gilmore, D. C. (1982). Applicant attractiveness as a perceived jobrelevant variable in selection of management trainees. Academy of Management Journal, 25(3), 607-617. doi:10.2307/256084
- Bem, S. L. (1974). The measurement of psychological androgyny. *Journal of Consulting And Clinical Psychology*, 42(2), 155-162. doi:10.1037/h0036215



- Boor, M., Wartman, S. A., & Reuben, D. B. (1983). Relationship of physical appearance and professional demeanor to interview evaluations and ranking of medical residency applicants. *Journal of Psychology*, 113(1), 61.
- Bretz, R. D., Rynes, S.L., & Gerhart, B (1993). Recruiter Perceptions of Applicant Fit: Implications for Individual Career Preparation and Job Search Behavior. *Journal* of Vocational Behavior, 43(3), 310-27.
- Buckingham, G., DeBruine, L.M., Little, A. C., Welling, L. L. M., Conway, C. A., Tiddeman, B. P., & Jones, B. C. (2006). Visual adaptation to masculine and feminine faces influences generalized preferences and perceptions of trustworthiness. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 27, 381-389.
- Bushardt, S., & Sheets, T. L. (1994). Effects of the applicant's gender appropriateness and qualifications and rater self-monitoring. *Public Personnel Management*, 23(3), 373.
- Cable, D. M., & Judge, T. A. (1997). Interviewers' perceptions of person–organization fit and organizational selection decisions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(4), 546-561. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.82.4.546
- Cesare, S. J. (1996). Subjective judgment and the selection interview: A methodological review. *Public Personnel Management*, 25(3), 291.
- Conway, M. Pizzamiglio, M. & Mount, L. (1996). Status, communality, and agency: Implications for stereotypes of gender and other groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(1), 25-38. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.71.1.25
- Cortina, J. M., & Landis, R. S. (2009). When small effect sizes tell a big story, and when large effect sizes don't. *Statistical and methodological myths and urban legends: Doctrine, verity and fable in the organizational and social sciences*, 287-308
- Davidson, H. K., & Burke, M. J. (2000). Sex discrimination in simulated employment contexts: A meta-analytic investigation. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 56(2), 225-248. Doi:10.1006/jvbe.1999.1711



- DeBruine, L. M., Jones, B. C., Smith, F. G., & Little, A. C. (2010). Are attractive men's faces masculine or feminine? The importance of controlling confounds in face stimuli. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception And Performance*, 36(3), 751-758. doi:10.1037/a0016457
- Deaux, K., & Lewis, L. L. (1984). Structure of gender stereotypes: Interrelationships among components and gender label. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46, 991-1004.
- Desrumaux, P., De Bosscher, S., & Léoni, V. (2009). Effects of facial attractiveness, gender, and competence of applicants on job recruitment. Swiss Journal of Psychology/Schweizerische Zeitschrift Für Psychologie/Revue Suisse De Psychologie, 68(1), 33-42. doi:10.1024/1421-0185.68.1.33
- Dion, K., Berscheid, E., & Walster, E. (1972). What is beautiful is good. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 24(3), 285-290.
- Dougherty, T. W., Turban, D. B., & Callender, J. C. (1994). Confirming first impressions in the employment interview: A field study of interviewer behavior. Journal of Applied Psychology, 79, 659 – 665.
- Eagly, A.H. (1987). *Sex differences in social behavior: A social-role interpretation*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Eagly, A. H., Ashmore, R. D., Makhijani, M. G., & Longo, L. C. (1991). What is beautiful is good, but...: A meta-analytic review of research on the physical attractiveness stereotype. *Psychological Bulletin*, 110(1), 109-128. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.110.1.109
- Eagly, A. H., & Karau, S. J. (2002). Role congruity theory of prejudice toward female leaders. *Psychological Review*, 109, 573–598. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.109.3.573
- Eagly, A.H., & Steffen, V.J. (1984). Gender stereotypes stem from the distribution of women and men into social roles. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(4), 735-754. Doi:10.1037/0022-3514.46.4.735



- Eagly, A. H., Wood, W., & Diekman, A. B. (2000). Social role theory of sex differences and similarities: A current appraisal. In T. Eckes & H. M. Trautner (Eds.), *The developmental social psychology of gender* (pp. 123–174). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Fiske, S. T., Cuddy, A. J., Glick, P., & Xu, J. (2002). A model of (often mixed) stereotype content: competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and competition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(6), 878.
- Friedman, H., & Zebrowitz, L. A. (1992). The contribution of typical sex differences in facial maturity to sex role stereotypes. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 18(4), 430-438.
- Gerber, G. (2009). Status and the Gender Stereotyped Personality Traits: Toward an Integration. *Sex Roles*, *61*(5/6), 297-316. doi:10.1007/s11199-008-9529-9
- Gerdes, E. P., & Kelman, J. H. (1981). Sex discrimination: Effects of sex-role incongruence, evaluator sex, and stereotypes. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 2(3), 219-226. doi:10.1207/s15324834basp0203_5
- Gilmore, D. C., Beehr, T. A., & Love, K. G. (1986). Effects of applicant sex, applicant physical attractiveness, type or rate and type of job on interview decisions. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 59(2), 103-109. Doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1986.tb00217.x
- Glick, P., Zion, C., & Nelson, C. (1988). What mediates sex discrimination in hiring decisions?. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55(2), 178.
- Goldberg, C., & Cohen, D. (2004). Walking the Walk and Talking the Talk: Gender difference in the impact of interviewing skills on applicants assessments. *Group & Organization Management*, 29(3), 369-384. doi:10.1177/1059601103257408
- Gorman, E. H. (2005). Gender stereotypes, same-gender preferences, and organizational variation in the hiring of women: Evidence from law firms. *American Sociological Review*, 70(4), 702-728.



- Graves, L. M., & Powell, G. N. (1988). An investigation of sex discrimination in recruiters' evaluations of actual applicants. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 73(1), 20-29. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.73.1.20
- Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (1995). Implicit social cognition: Attitudes, selfesteem, and stereotypes. *Psychological Review*, *102*(1), 4-27. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.102.1.4
- Guy, M., & Newman, M. A. (2004). Women's jobs, men's jobs: Sex segregation and emotional labor. *Public Administration Review*, 64(3), 289-298. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6210.2004.00373.x
- Heilman, M. E. (1983). Sex bias in work settings: The lack of fit model. *Research in* Organizational Behavior, 52(69).
- Heilman, M. E. (1997). Sex Discrimination and the Affirmative Action Remedy: The Role of Sex Stereotypes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *16*(9), 877-889.
- Heilman, M. E. & Haynes, M. C. (2008). Subjectivity in the appraisal process: A facilitator of gender bias in work settings. In E. Borgida & S. T. Fiske (Eds.), *Beyond Common Sense: Psychological Science in Court* (pp. 127-155). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing, Ltd.
- Heilman, M. E., & Okimoto, T. G. (2007). Why are women penalized for success at male tasks?: the implied communality deficit. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 81.
- Heilman, M. E., & Wallen, A. S. (2010). Wimpy and undeserving of respect: Penalties for men's gender-inconsistent success. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 46(4), 664-667.
- Heilman, M. E., & Saruwatari, L. R. (1979). When beauty is beastly: The effects of appearance and sex on evaluations of job applicants for managerial and nonmanagerial jobs. *Organizational Behavior & Human Performance*, 23(3), 360-372. doi:10.1016/0030-5073(79)90003-5



- Heilman, M. E., & Stopeck, M. H. (1985). Attractiveness and corporate success: Different causal attributions for males and females. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(2), 379-388. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.70.2.379
- Heilman, M. E., Wallen, A. S., Fuchs, D., & Tamkins, M. M. (2004). Penalties for Success: Reactions to Women Who Succeed at Male Gender-Typed Tasks. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(3), 416-427. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.89.3.416
- Highhouse, S. (2008). Stubborn Reliance on Intuition and Subjectivity in Employee Selection. *Industrial & Organizational Psychology*, 1(3), 333-342. doi:10.1111/j.1754-9434.2008.00058.x
- Hosoda, M., Stone-Romero, E. F., & Coats, G. (2003). The effects of physical attractiveness on job-related outcomes: A meta-analysis of experimental studies. *Personnel Psychology*, 56, 431–462.
- Huffcutt, A. I. (2011). An empirical review of the employment interview construct literature. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 19(1), 62-81.
- Huffcutt, A. I., Conway, J. M., Roth, P. L., & Stone, N. J. (2001). Identification and meta-analytic assessment of psychological constructs measured in employment interviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(5), 897-913. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.86.5.897
- Huffcutt, Allen I.; Culbertson, Satoris S. Zedeck, Sheldon (Ed), (2011). APA handbook of industrial and organizational psychology, Vol 2: Selecting and developing members for the organization. APA Handbooks in Psychology., (pp. 185-203). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association, viii, 598 pp. doi: 10.1037/12170-006
- Isaac, C., Lee, B., & Carnes, M. (2009). Interventions that affect gender bias in hiring: A systematic review. *Academic Medicine*, 84(10), 1440-1446.
- Jawahar, I.M., & Mattsson, J. (2005). Sexism and beautyism effects in selection as a function of self-monitoring level of decision maker. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(3), 563-573. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.90.3.563



- Johnson, S.K., Podratz, K. E., Dipboye, R. L., & Gibbons, E. (2010). Physical attractiveness biases in ratings of employment suitability: Tracking down the 'beauty is beastly' effect. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 150(3), 301-318. doi:10.1080/00224540903365414
- Koenig, A. M., Eagly, A. H., Mitchell, A. A., & Ristikari, T. (2011). Are leader stereotypes masculine? A meta-analysis of three research paradigms. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(4), 616-642. doi:10.1037/a0023557
- Langlois, J.H., Kalakanis, L., Rubenstein, A.J., Larson, A., Hallam, M., Smoot, M. (2000). Maxims or myths of beauty? A meta-analytic and theoretical review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126, 390-423.
- Little, A. C., Jones, B. C., & DeBruine, L. M. (2011). Facial attractiveness: Evolutionary based research. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, 366 (1571), 1638-1659.
- Lorenzo, G. L., Biensanz, J. C., & Human, L. J. (2010). What is beautiful is good and more accurately understood: Physical attractiveness and accuracy in first impressions of personality. *Psychological Science*, 21(12), 1777-1782. doi:10.1177/0956797610388048
- Lyness, K. S., & Heilman, M. E. (2006). When Fit Is Fundamental: Performance Evaluations and Promotions of Upper-Level Female and Male Managers. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 91(4), 777-785.
- Mack, D., & Rainey, D. (1990). Female applicants' grooming and personnel selection. *Journal of Social Behavior & Personality*, 5(5), 399-407.
- Marlowe, C. M., Schneider, S. L., & Nelson, C. E. (1996). Gender and attractiveness biases in hiring decisions: Are more experienced managers less biased?. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(1), 11-21. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.81.1.11
- McArthur, L. Z. & Apatow, K. (1983-4). Impressions of babyfaced adults. *Social Cognition*, 2, 315-342.



- McShane, T. D. (1993). Effects of nonverbal cues and verbal first impressions in unstructured and situational interview settings. *Applied HRM Research*, 4, 137– 150.
- O'Lynn, C. (2004). Gender-based barriers for male students in nursing education programs: prevalence and perceived importance. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 43(5), 229-236.
- Penton-Voak, I. S., Jones, B. C., Little, A. C., Baker, S., Tiddeman, B., Burt, D. M., & Perrett, D. I. (2001). Symmetry, sexual dimorphism in facial proportions and male facial attractiveness. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B, 268, 1617– 1623.
- Phelan, J. E., Moss-Racusin, C. A., & Rudman, L. A. (2008). Competent yet out in the cold: Shifting criteria for hiring reflect backlash toward agentic women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 32(4), 406-413
- Podratz, K., & Dipboye, R. L. (April 2002). *In search of the 'beauty is beastly' effect*. A paper presented at the 17th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (2001). Prescriptive gender stereotypes and backlash toward agentic women. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(4), 743-762.
- Rudman, L. A., & Phelan, J. E. (2008). Backlash effects for disconfirming gender stereotypes in organizations. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 28, 61-79.
- Rule, N. O., & Ambady, N. (2008). The Face of Success Inferences From Chief Executive Officers' Appearance Predict Company Profits. *Psychological Science*, 19(2), 109-111.
- Rule, N. O., Ambady, N., Adams Jr, R. B., Ozono, H., Nakashima, S., Yoshikawa, S., & Watabe, M. (2010). Polling the face: prediction and consensus across cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(1), 1.



- Rynes, S., & Gerhart, B. (1990). Interviewer assessments of applicant "fit": An exploratory investigation. *Personnel Psychology*, *43*(1), 13-35.
- Schein, V. E. (1973). The relationship between sex role stereotypes and requisite management characteristics. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 57(2), 95.
- Sczesny, S., & Kühnen, U. (2004). Meta-cognition about biological sex and genderstereotypic physical appearance: Consequences for the assessment of leadership competence. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30(1), 13-21. doi:10.1177/0146167203258831
- Sczesny, S., Spreemann, S., & Stahlberg, D. (2006). Masculine = competent? Physical appearance and sex as sources of gender-stereotypic attributions. Swiss Journal Of Psychology/Schweizerische Zeitschrift Für Psychologie/Revue Suisse De Psychologie, 65(1), 15-23. doi:10.1024/1421-0185.65.1.15
- Sharp, C., & Post, R. (1980). Evaluation of Male and Female Applicants for Sex-Congruent and Sex-Incongruent Jobs. *Sex Roles*, 6(3), 391-401.
- Snyder, M., Berscheid, E., & Matwychuk, A. (1988). Orientations toward personnel selection: Differential reliance on appearance and personality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(6), 972-979. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.972
- Solis & Hall (2011). *Women in the Labor Force: A Databook*. Retrieved February 4, 2013 from http://www.bls.gov/cps/wlf-databook-2011.pdf
- Spence, J. E. & Buckner, C. E. (2000). Instrumental and expressive traits, trait stereotypes, and sexist attitudes. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 24(1), 44.
- Welling, L. L. M., Singh, K., Puts, D. A., Jones, B. C., & Burriss, R. P. (2013). Selfreported sexual desire in homosexual men and women predicts preferences for sexually dimorphic facial cues. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 42(5), 785-791
- White, M.J., & White, G.B. (2006). Implicit and Explicit Occupational Gender Stereotypes. *Sex Roles*, 55(3-4), 259-266.



- Williams, C. L. (1992). The glass escalator: Hidden advantages for men in the" female" professions. Social problems, 253-267.
- Young, J. L., & James, E. (2001). Token Majority: The Work Attitudes of Male Flight Attendants. *Sex Roles*, 45(5/6), 299-319.
- Zebrowitz, L. A., & McDonald, S. M. (1991). The impact of litigants' baby-facedness and attractiveness on adjudications in small claims courts. *Law and human behavior*, *15*(6), 603.
- Zebrowitz, L. A., Olson, K., & Hoffman, K. (1993). Stability of babyfaceness and attractiveness across the life span. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64(3), 453.
- Zebrowitz, L. A., Tenenbaum, D. R., & Goldstein, L. H. (1991). The impact of job applicants' facial maturity, gender, and academic achievement on hiring recommendations. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 21(7), 525-548.


TABLES



Table 1 Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations among Sample Demographics and Key Variables

Variables	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Gender	0.75	0.43	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2. Age	20.8	4.49	-0.04	-	-	-	-	-	-
3. Race	0.75	0.43	-0.03	-0.01	-	-	-	-	-
4. Selection Ratings	3.91	0.70	0.06	-0.04	0.08	-	-	-	-
5. Target Sex	0.49	0.50	0.01	0.04	0.01	0.05	-	-	-
6. Facial feature-type	0.49	0.50	-0.01	-0.01	-0.06	0.03	0.03	-	-
7. Field-type	0.51	0.50	0.03	0.04	-0.06	-0.06	-0.01	0.03	-

* Indicates significance at the .05 level

Note: N = 413. Gender coded as 0 = male, 1 = female

Race coded as 0 = minority, 1 = majority ("Caucasian/white")

Target Sex, facial feature-type, and field-type coded as 0 = male/masculine, 1 = female/feminine

Table 2 Results of ANOVA

Effect	$d\!f$	F	η	р
Target Sex	1	1.37	0.00	0.24
Facial feature-type	1	0.63	0.00	0.43
Field-type	1	1.58	0.00	0.21
Target Sex x Facial feature-type	1	5.94	0.01	0.02
Target Sex x Field-type	1	0.00	0.00	0.99
Facial feature-type x Field-type	1	0.04	0.00	0.85
Target Sex x Facial feature-type x Field-type	1	4.63	0.01	0.03



Target sex	Field-type	М	SD
Male	Masculine	4.00	0.78
	Feminine	3.91	0.61
Female	Masculine	3.92	0.64
	Feminine	3.83	0.73

Table 3 Means and Standard Deviations for Selection Ratings: Target sex by Field-type

Table 4 Means and Standard Deviations for Selection Ratings: Facial feature-type by Field-type

Facial feature-type	Field-type	М	SD
Masculine	Masculine	3.93	0.72
	Feminine	3.85	0.64
Feminine	Masculine	3.99	0.71
	Feminine	3.89	0.70

Table 5 Means and Standard Deviations for Selection Ratings: Target sex by Field-type by Facial feature-type

Target sex	Field-type	Facial feature-type	M	SD
Male	Masculine	Masculine	3.97	0.78
		Feminine	4.02	0.78
	Feminine	Masculine	4.05	0.48
		Feminine	3.78	0.69
Female	Masculine	Masculine	3.88	0.65
		Feminine	3.96	0.64
	Feminine	Masculine	3.66	0.73
		Feminine	4.01	0.70



FIGURES





Figure 1 Selection Ratings for Male Applicants: Facial feature-type by Field-type







APPENDICES



Job Description: Computer Science TA

The primary role of Graduate Teaching Assistants (TAs) is to assist faculty members with teaching or teaching-related duties. For Computer Science TAs, prior background and/or experience in computers and electronics, mathematics, engineering and technology, telecommunications, and design is preferred. It is also recommended that Computer Science TAs have basic operating knowledge of multimedia projectors, portable data input terminals, and software such as database user interface and query software.

Additional TA tasks may include:

- Lead discussion sections, tutorials, or laboratory sections.
- Develop teaching materials
- Evaluate and grade examinations, assignments, or papers and record grades.
- Notify instructors of errors or problems with assignments.
- Meet with supervisors to discuss students' grades or to complete required graderelated paperwork.
- Copy and distribute classroom materials.
- Demonstrate use of laboratory/classroom equipment and enforce laboratory/classroom rules.

Job Description: Social Work TA

The primary role of Graduate Teaching Assistants (TAs) is to assist faculty members with teaching or teaching-related duties. For Social Work TAs, prior background and/or experience in therapy and counseling, psychology, sociology/anthropology, customer and personal service, law and government, and clerical work is preferred. It is also recommended that Social Work TAs have basic operating knowledge of photocopiers and software, such as medical software, office suite software, and spreadsheet software. Additional TA tasks may include:

- Lead discussion sections, tutorials, or laboratory sections.
- Develop teaching materials
- Evaluate and grade examinations, assignments, or papers and record grades.
- Notify instructors of errors or problems with assignments.
- Meet with supervisors to discuss students' grades or to complete required graderelated paperwork.
- Copy and distribute classroom materials.
- Demonstrate use of laboratory/classroom equipment and enforce laboratory/classroom rules.



2007-2009

Resume: Computer Science

EDUCATION

Masters in Computer Science, expected Spring of 2014 B.S. in Computer Science, Spring 2012 Undergraduate GPA: 3.67/4.0

TRAINING AND EXPERIENCE

IUPUI Computer Clinic, Employee2009-2012Worked on programming and computers for various customer projects.
Developed skills in computer repair, training, and programming.2009-2012

P.F. Chang's Restaurant, Server

LEADERSHIP AND SERVICE

Boys and Girls Club of America, Mentor2013- PresentComputer Science Club, Secretary2009-2012Alpha Lambda Delta Freshman Honor Society, Member2008-Present



2007-2009

Resume: Social Work

EDUCATION

Masters in Social Work, expected Spring of 2014 B.S. in Social Work, Spring 2012 Undergraduate GPA: 3.67/4.0

TRAINING AND EXPERIENCE

Midtown Mental Health Center, Employee 2009-2012 Assisted individual case-work for patients with mental health concerns. Developed skills in counseling, problem solving, and administrative tasks

P.F. Chang's, Restaurant, Server

LEADERSHIP AND SERVICE

Boys and Girls Club of America, Mentor2013- PresentPre-Social Work Club, Secretary2009-2012Alpha Lambda Delta Freshman Honor Society, Member2008-Present



Masculine Male Face



Feminine Male Face





Masculine Female Face



Feminine Female Face





Below is a list of jobs. Please rate on a scale of 1-5 how prestigious you believe the job to be, with 1 indicating *Very Low Prestige*, 3 being *Average Prestige*, and 5 indicating Very *High Prestige*. A prestigious job is one that conveys both status and respect. Please do not assign a rank if you are unfamiliar with the job.

1	2	3	4	5
Very Low	Low	Average	High	Very High
Prestige	Prestige	Prestige	Prestige	Prestige

- 1. Elementary School Teacher
- 2. Dentist
- 3. Chiropractor
- 4. Retail Salesperson
- 5. College Professor
- 6. Security System Installer
- 7. Office Clerk
- 8. Accountant
- 9. Electrician
- 10. Marketing and Sales Manager
- 11. Counselor
- 12. Clergy
- 13. Roofer
- 14. Chef
- 15. Architect
- 16. Event Planner
- 17. Postal Service Clerk
- 18. Physical Therapist
- 19. Firefighter
- 20. Dishwasher
- 21. Human Resource Manager



- 22. Bartender
- 23. Automotive Mechanic
- 24. Editor
- 25. Librarian
- 26. Computer Programmer
- 27. Highway Maintenance Worker
- 28. Speech and Language Pathologist
- 29. Environmental Scientist
- 30. Veterinarian
- 31. Construction/Building Inspector
- 32. Baker
- 33. Plumber
- 34. Patrol Officer
- 35. Social Worker
- 36. Mechanical Engineer
- 37. Hair Stylist
- 38. Insurance Sales Agent
- 39. Chemists and Material Scientists
- 40. Pest Control Worker
- 41. Real Estate Agent
- 42. Dietician/Nutritionist
- 43. Funeral Director
- 44. Travel Agent
- 45. Housekeeping Cleaner
- 46. Pharmacist
- 47. Occupational Therapist
- 48. Judge
- 49. Butcher
- 50. Photographer
- 51. Registered Nurse



- 52. Cashier
- 53. Detective/Criminal Investigator
- 54. Fundraiser
- 55. Elementary School Teacher
- 56. Attorney
- 57. Carpenter
- 58. Restaurant Server
- 59. Financial Analyst
- 60. Software Developer
- 61. Dental Hygienist
- 62. Author
- 63. Economist
- 64. Janitor and Building Cleaner

Below is a list of jobs. Please rate on a scale of 1-5 how masculine or feminine you believe the job to be, with 1 indicating *Very Masculine*, 3 being *Neutral*, and 5 indicating *Very Feminine*. Please do not assign a rank if you are unfamiliar with the job.

1 Very Masculine	2 Masculine	3 Neutral	3 Feminine	5 Very Feminine
------------------------	----------------	--------------	---------------	-----------------------

- 1. Elementary School Teacher
- 2. Dentist
- 3. Chiropractor
- 4. Retail Salesperson
- 5. College Professor
- 6. Security System Installer
- 7. Office Clerk
- 8. Accountant
- 9. Electrician
- 10. Marketing and Sales Manager
- 11. Counselor
- 12. Clergy
- 13. Roofer
- 14. Chef
- 15. Architect
- 16. Event Planner
- 17. Postal Service Clerk
- 18. Physical Therapist
- 19. Firefighter
- 20. Dishwasher
- 21. Human Resource Manager
- 22. Bartender
- 23. Automotive Mechanic
- 24. Editor



- 25. Librarian
- 26. Computer Programmer
- 27. Highway Maintenance Worker
- 28. Speech and Language Pathologist
- 29. Environmental Scientist
- 30. Veterinarian
- 31. Construction/Building Inspector
- 32. Baker
- 33. Plumber
- 34. Patrol Officer
- 35. Social Worker
- 36. Mechanical Engineer
- 37. Hair Stylist
- 38. Insurance Sales Agent
- 39. Chemists and Material Scientists
- 40. Pest Control Worker
- 41. Real Estate Agent
- 42. Dietician/Nutritionist
- 43. Funeral Director
- 44. Travel Agent
- 45. Housekeeping Cleaner
- 46. Pharmacist
- 47. Occupational Therapist
- 48. Judge
- 49. Butcher
- 50. Photographer
- 51. Registered Nurse
- 52. Cashier
- 53. Detective/Criminal Investigator
- 54. Fundraiser



- 55. Elementary School Teacher
- 56. Attorney
- 57. Carpenter
- 58. Restaurant Server
- 59. Financial Analyst
- 60. Software Developer
- 61. Dental Hygienist
- 62. Author
- 63. Economist
- 64. Janitor and Building Cleaner



Appendix C. Measures

One a scale of one to five, where 1 = *strongly disagree* and 5=*strongly agree*, please rate your level of agreement with the following two statements:

1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Neutral	4 Agree	5 Strongly Agree
---------------------------	---------------	--------------	------------	------------------------

1. I am willing to hire this candidate for the TA position.

2. I think this candidate will be successful in the TA position.

Additional Variables/Manipulation Checks:

4. How likeable do you consider this candidate to be? (Circle one):

Very Neutral	2	3 Very
--------------	---	-----------

5. How attractive do you consider this candidate to be? (Circle one):

-3 -2 -2 Very Unattractive	-1 0 Neutral	1	2	3 Very Attractive
----------------------------------	-----------------	---	---	-------------------------

6. How masculine or feminine do you consider the physical appearance of this person to be? (Circle one):

-3	-2	-1	0	1	2	3
Very			Ambiguous			Very
Masculine						Feminine



7. Have you ever experienced a class with a TA? (Circle one):



8. Have you ever been in a position where you reviewed a candidate's resume for selection purposes? (Circle one):

|--|



Reading Checks:

Reading Checks for Computer Science Condition

1. Which of the following is NOT part the job description for a Computer Science TA?

- A. Lead discussions, tutorials, or labs
- B. Notify instructors of errors or problems with assignments
- C. Preferably, prior background/experience in a related field
- D. Formulate lesson plans
- 2. In what field is this applicant pursing a Master's degree?
 - A. Engineering
 - B. Mathematics
 - C. Computer Science
 - D. Telecommunications

3. Where did this applicant work from 2009-2012?

- A. Computer Clinic at IUPUI
- B. UITS at IUPUI
- C. Geek Squad at Best Buy
- 4. Is this applicant male or female?
 - A. Male
 - B. Female
- 5. Is this applicant Caucasian/White or African American/Black?
 - A. Caucasian/White
 - B. African American/Black

Reading Checks for Social Work Condition

- 1. Which of the following is NOT part of the job description for a Social Work TA?
 - A. Lead discussions, tutorials, or labs
 - B. Notify instructors of errors or problems with assignments
 - C. Preferably, prior background/experience in a related field
 - D. Formulate lesson plans
- 2. In what field is the applicant pursuing a Master's degree?
 - A. Counseling
 - B. Sociology/Anthropology
 - C. Social Work
 - D. Legal Studies



- 3. Where did the applicant work from 2009-2012?
 - A. Midtown Mental Health Center
 - B. Valle Vista Health System
 - C. Sycamore Springs
- 4. Is this applicant male or female?
 - C. Male
 - D. Female
- 5. Is this applicant Caucasian/White or African American/Black?
 - C. Caucasian/White
 - D. African American/Black

Demographic Questions:

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. What is your race/ethnicity? (Check all that apply)
 - □ Asian/Asian American
 - □ American Indian/Native American
 - □ Bi- or multi-racial
 - □ Black/African American
 - □ Hispanic/Latino
 - □ White
 - \Box Prefer not to say
 - \Box Other (please specify)
- 3. What is your gender?
 - □ Male
 - □ Female
 - \Box Prefer not to say
- 4. What is your sexual orientation?
 - □ Heterosexual
 - □ Lesbian
 - □ Gay
 - □ Bisexual
 - □ Other
 - \Box Prefer not to say

